Amenability and fixed point properties of semi-topological semigroups of non-expansive mappings in Banach spaces

by

Khadime Salame

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Mathematics

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

University of Alberta

© Khadime Salame, 2016

Abstract

In this thesis we are interested in fixed point properties of representations of semi-topological semigroups of non-expansive mappings on weak and weak* compact convex sets in Banach or dual spaces. More particularly, we study the following problems :

Problem 1 : Let \mathcal{F} be any commuting family of non-expansive mappings on a non-empty weakly compact convex subset of a Banach space such that for each $f \in \mathcal{F}$ there is an x whose f-orbit has a cluster point (in the norm topology). Does \mathcal{F} possess a common fixed point ?

Problem 2 : What amenability properties of a semi-topological semigroup do ensure the existence of a common fixed point for any jointly weakly continuous non-expansive representation on a non-empty weakly compact convex subset of a Banach space ?

Problem 3 : Does any left amenable semi-topological semigroup S possess the following fixed point property :

 (F^*) : Whenever S defines a weak* jointly continuous non-expansive representation on a non-void weak* compact convex set in the dual of a Banach space E, there is a common fixed point for S?

Problem 4 : Is there a fixed point proof of the existence of a left Haar measure for locally compact groups ?

Our approach is essentially based on the use of the axiom of choice through Zorn's lemma, amenability techniques and the concept of an

ii

asymptotic center in geometry of Banach spaces. Some positive answers are obtained for problem 1; however, problem 2 is settled affirmatively for three classes of semi-topological semigroups. These classes of semigroups together with left amenable and all left reversible semitopological semigroups possess a fixed point property which is a weak version of (F^*) . We show that *n*-extremely left amenable discrete semigroups satisfy a fixed point property much more stronger than (F^*) ; whereas, *n*-extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroups possess the fixed point property (F^*) .

Among other things, results in Browder [10], Belluce and Kirk [3,4], and Kirk [37] are generalized to non-commutative families. A result of Hsu [32, theorem 4] is extended to semi-topological semigroups. Furthermore, some results related to the work of Lim (cf. [47],[49]) are obtained. A positive answer to question 4 is established for amenable locally compact groups. Dedicated to Khadime Rassoul s.a.w.

Acknowledgments

I am indebted to my supervisor professor A. T. -M. Lau for his kind suggestions, encouragements and comments during the preparation of this thesis; and for offering his time to ensure my success. My thanks to him as he taught me to enjoy fixed point theory through amenability and semigroup theory. I would also like to thank the members of the supervisory committee and the examination committee kind help and guidance.

My heartfelt thanks to my parents for all the sacrifices, supports and their patience in my respect for so many years.

My gratefulness to the Gaston Berger University and the Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics (ICTP) for having given me a strong foundation in mathematics during my undergraduate studies.

Finally, I would like to express my appreciation to the University of Alberta and the administrative staff of the Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences for their help throughout my study in Edmonton.

Contents

1	Introduction and Preliminaries					
	1.1	Introduction				
	1.2	Preliminaries				
		1.2.1	Amenability	6		
		1.2.2	Function spaces	8		
		1.2.3	Representations of semi-topological semigroups .	10		
		1.2.4	Some geometric properties of Banach spaces	12		
		1.2.5	Some Notations	14		
2	Amenable semigroups and non-linear fixed point proper-					
	ties on weakly compact convex subsets of Banach spaces 10					
	2.1	A characterization of left amenability				
	2.2	A non-linear common fixed point theorem for bounded				
		closed convex sets in uniformly convex spaces 20				
	2.3	Some non-linear fixed point theorems on weakly compact				
	convex subsets of Banach spaces					
3	Sem	Semi-topological semigroups and non-linear common fixed				

point properties on weak* compact convex sets 46

	3.1	Semi-topological semigroups and weak * fixed point prop-			
		erties in dual spaces	47		
	3.2	Fixed point properties of n -ELA semigroups of non-linear			
		mappings	52		
	3.3	A weak* fixed point property in conjugate Banach spaces			
		via ℓ^1	56		
	3.4	Some topological extensions	59		
4	4 A fixed point proof of the existence of a left Haar mea- sure for amenable locally compact topological groups				
5	6 Remarks and Open Problems				
	5.1	Remarks on chapter 2 and related problems	80		
	5.2	Remarks on chapter 3 and related problems $\ldots \ldots$	81		
	5.3	Remarks on chapter 4 with an open question	82		
Bibliography					

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and Preliminaries

1.1 Introduction

In non-linear functional analysis, the study of existence of a fixed point for non-expansive mappings (i.e., constant one Lipschitzian mappings) have been investigated since the 60's; and appears as an extension of the Banach fixed point theorem in the setting of Banach spaces. But in this new situation, even on bounded closed convex sets, existence of a fixed point is not guaranteed (of course in infinite dimension). According to the Schauder fixed point theorem [58], any non-expansive mapping on non-void norm compact convex set has a non-empty fixed point set; therefore this theory has a real interest only when we consider weak topologies in infinite dimension. A natural question is therefore the following : Do non-empty weakly compact convex sets in Banach spaces have the fixed point property for non-expansive mappings ? In other words, does every non-expansive mapping on a non-void weakly compact convex set into itself possess at least one fixed point ? In the middle of the 60's, two surprising results in this direction appeared independently; in fact, Kirk [37] showed that in a reflexive Banach space, weakly compact convex sets with normal structure have the fixed point property for non-expansive mappings; and in the same period, Browder [10] proved that the same conclusion holds for non-void bounded closed convex sets in uniformly convex spaces. Whether Kirk's condition could be removed had been a quite long-standing open question which was answered negatively in 1981 by Alspach [1]. Kirk and Browder's results had a significant impact in the development of this theory; indeed, most of the results which appeared later are more or less their generalization. Kirk in a joint work with Belluce [3], improved [37] by considering finite commuting families of non-expansive mappings; and again under the same collaboration, in [4], they proved that their previous result still holds even for arbitrary commutative families if we replace "normal structure" by a stronger condition called "complete normal structure". Lim [48], showed that [4] holds even under a normal structure setting and proved later in [47] that both complete and normal structure are actually equivalent on weak compact convex sets; which is quite a surprising result. On the other hand, Bruck [8] gave a generalization of the above results by proving that on a closed convex subset C of a Banach space E with the fixed point property and together with the conditional fixed point property for non-expansive mappings, if C is either weakly compact or bounded and separable, then any commuting family of nonexpansive mappings of C possess a common fixed point.

We know that a commuting family generates an amenable semigroup, and it is clear that a point is fixed by such a family if and only if, the semigroup generated by it does. On the other hand, amenability of certain function spaces of a semigroup can be characterized using fixed point properties. These observations show that amenability and fixed point theory are related. Day characterized left amenable semigroups in terms of a linear fixed point property in his famous result "Day's fixed point theorem". This result was extended to semi-topological semigroups by Mitchell in [53]. A non-expansive version of the Markov-Kakutani fixed point theorem was proved by DeMarr [17] and it was extended by Takahashi [59] to left amenable discrete semigroups. The topological version was done by Lau [42], where he characterized left amenability of a certain function space of semi-topological semigroups in terms of a fixed point property of non-expansive mappings in locally convex spaces.

In this thesis, we are interested in the study of fixed point properties of semi-topological semigroups of non-expansive mappings on compact convex subsets of Banach spaces in weak topologies. This work is basically motivated by the work of Belluce and Kirk, an interesting hard question raised by Lau [45],[46], a result of Izzo [34], and Lim [47],[49].

In Chapter 2, we are interested in the study of the first two problems. We point out that problem 1 was posted by Belluce and Kirk in [3], where they provided an affirmative answer within the framework of strictly convex spaces. We adopt a more general setting by looking at non-expansive representations of left amenable semigroups on weakly compact convex subsets of Banach spaces. We prove that left reversible discrete semigroups satisfy problem 1 if the underlying space is uniformly convex; the geometrical property "uniform convexity" being removable if we require instead a normal structure condition, generalizing [3,theorem 3],[4,theorem 2.1],[10,theorem 1 and 2] and [37,main theorem]. For Problem 2, some class of semi-topological semigroups which answer the question are introduced.

In chapter 3, we study the fixed point property (F^*) , which is a very long-standing open question raised by A. T. -M. Lau (1976 in a Halifax conference). Until now, in our best knowledge, only a few special cases have been answered positively, e.g., Lau and Takahashi in [46], proved that the answer is positive for weak^{*} compact convex sets which are separable in the norm topology; in [6] the question was settled affirmatively for commutative semigroups. We introduce two classes of semitopological semigroups that satisfy a weak version of (F^*) obtained by requiring a relative compactness of some orbits with respect to some suitable locally convex Hausdorff topology; and also left amenable semitopological semigroups possess a weak version of (F^*) using a result in ℓ^1 . As a consequence, a version of Lim's fixed point theorem [47, theorem 3], in the Banach space setting, is obtained for weak^{*} compact sets in dual spaces without requiring a normal structure condition. A result of Hsu [32, theorem 4] is extended to semi-topological semigroups. Furthermore, we show that discrete semigroups with a left invariant mean which can be written as a convex combination of multiplicative means, have a fixed point property much more stronger than (F^*) , whereas semi-topological semigroups with a left invariant mean of this type possess (F^*) .

Chapter 4 is motivated by a nice proof of Izzo on the existence of a left Haar measure for abelian groups, see [34]. Based on it, we are able to extend his result to a class of topological groups which contains abelian groups and compact groups.

Finally, in chapter 5, we make some remarks on the results obtained, and we derive some natural questions related to them.

1.2 Preliminaries

Let S be a semi-topological semigroup; i.e., a semigroup together with a Hausdorff topology such that for all $a \in S$, the mappings $s \mapsto a.s$ and $s \mapsto s.a$ are continuous from S into itself. When $(a, b) \mapsto ab : S \times S \to S$ is jointly continuous, then S is said to be a topological semigroup.

Let $C_b(S)$ denote the Banach space of all continuous bounded real-valued functions on S with the sup norm topology. Given $s \in S$ we consider the left translation operator $\ell_s : C_b(S) \to C_b(S)$ defined by $\ell_s f(t) := f(st)$.

1.2.1 Amenability

If $\Phi \subset C_b(S)$ is a closed subspace containing the constant function e(where e(t) = 1 for all $t \in S$), we say that Φ is *left translation invariant* if, $\ell_s(\Phi) \subset \Phi$, for all $s \in S$. If we fix such a subspace Φ , an element mof the dual Φ^* is called a *mean* on Φ if

$$m(e) = 1$$
 and for all $f \in \Phi$ we have, $f \ge 0 \Rightarrow m(f) \ge 0$.

A mean m is called *left invariant* if $m(\ell_s f) = m(f)$ for all $s \in S$ and fin Φ . The subspace Φ is said to be *left amenable* if it has a left invariant mean. For short, we shall write sometimes " Φ has a LIM" to stand for the statement " Φ has a left invariant mean".

If in addition Φ is an algebra, then a mean m on Φ is called a *multi*plicative mean if it satisfies

$$m(f.g) = m(f).m(g)$$
, for all $f, g \in \Phi$.

If Φ has a left invariant mean which is a convex combination of multiplicative means on Φ , then we say that Φ is *n*-extremely left amenable and then we write " Φ is *n*-ELA" for short. The class of *n*-ELA semigroups was introduced and studied in [40] and [41]. It contains the class of extremely left amenable semigroups studied first by Mitchell in [51], and after by Granirer in [27] and [28].

When S is discrete (i.e., its topology is discrete) then $C_b(S) = \ell^{\infty}(S)$. In this case if $\Phi = \ell^{\infty}(S)$ has a left invariant mean, then S is said to be a *left amenable semigroup*. **Example 1.2.1.1** (left invariant mean) Let $S = \mathbb{Z}$ the group of integers. It is well-known, see [56], if U is a free ultra-filter on S then, $f \mapsto m(f) := \lim_{U} \frac{1}{2n+1} \sum_{i=-n}^{n} f(i)$ is an invariant mean on $\ell^{\infty}(S)$.

Example 1.2.1.2 (Amenable semigroups) The class of amenable semigroups contains commutative semigroups [14], finite groups, the bicyclic semigroup $S_1 = \langle e, a, b \rangle$ generated by a unit e and two elements a, bsubject to the condition ab = e, see [44].

Note that not all semigroups are amenable; in fact, as known, any group containing a free subgroup of two generators is not amenable, see [14] and [15]; the partially bicyclic semigroups, $S_2 := \langle e, a, b, c \rangle$ generated by a unit e and three elements a, b, c such that ab = ac = e and $S_{1,1} := \langle e, a, b, c, d \rangle$ generated by a unit e and four elements a, b, c, d subject to the conditions ac = bd = e are also examples of non-amenable semigroups, see [44] for more details.

A semi-topological semigroup S is said to be *left reversible* if :

$$\overline{a.S} \cap \overline{b.S} \neq \emptyset$$
, for all $a, b \in S$.

That is any two closed right ideals in S have a non-void intersection. The collection of all left reversible semi-topological semigroups includes all topological groups, commutative semi-topological semigroups, discrete left amenable semigroups, normal semi-topological semigroups Sfor which $C_b(S)$ has a left invariant mean, see [31]. **Remark 1.2.1.3** Note that a semi-topological semigroup S need not be left reversible even when $C_b(S)$ has a left invariant mean; indeed, Hewitt [30] has constructed a regular Hausdorff topological space S such that the only continuous real-valued function on it are constant functions; in [26], Granirer defined a semi-topological semigroup structure on S by letting a.b = a for all $a, b \in S$; moreover for all $a \in S$, $f \mapsto \delta_a(f) = f(a)$ defines a left invariant mean on $C_b(S)$. However, S is not left reversible.

1.2.2 Function spaces

• The space of left uniformly continuous functions on S denoted by LUC(S) is the subspace of $C_b(S)$ of those mappings f such that the mapping $s \mapsto \ell_s f : S \to C_b(S)$ is continuous, i.e., $\lim_{t\to s} ||\ell_t f - \ell_s f|| = 0$. This space was introduced jointly by Mitchell and Itzkowitz, see [33]. As known, see [53], LUC(S) is a translation invariant closed sub-algebra of $C_b(S)$ containing e and therefore the constant functions on S. We shall say that a semi-topological semigroup S is left amenable, if LUC(S) has a LIM.

• The space of left multiplicatively continuous uniformly continuous functions on S, introduced by Mitchell [53], is the subspace of $C_b(S)$ of those f with the property that the mapping $s \mapsto \ell_s f : S \to C_b(S)$ is continuous when $C_b(S)$ is given the weak topology induced by the set of multiplicative means on $C_b(S)$; i.e., $f \in \text{LMC}(S)$ if for all multiplicative mean m on $C_b(S)$ and all $s \in S$, we have $\lim_{t\to s} |m(\ell_t f) - m(\ell_s f)| = 0$. As LUC(S), see [53], the space LMC(S) is a translation invariant closed sub-algebra of $C_b(S)$ with the constant functions in it.

If S is a semi-topological semigroup, then the following hold, cf. [53].

- $LUC(S) \subset LMC(S)$ (immediate from the definition);
- $LMC(S) = C_b(S)$ if S is compact;
- $LUC(S) = LMC(S) = C_b(S)$ if S is compact and topological;
- LUC(S) = LMC(S) if S is discrete or a locally compact group.

Remark 1.2.2.1. It may happen for the above inclusion to be strict. In fact, we have the following example :

Example 1.2.2.2. In [50], P. Milnes and J. S. Pym, have constructed a semi-topological semigroup S such that $\text{LMC}(S) = C_b(S)$ and a function $f \in C_b(S) \setminus \text{LUC}(S)$. Therefore the first inclusion is strict for S. Let S be a discrete semigroup. A *finite mean* on $\ell^{\infty}(S)$ is defined as any element of the convex hull of all point measures of S; i.e., the convex hull of all mappings δ_s , $s \in S$ with $\delta_s(f) = f(s)$ for all $f \in \ell^{\infty}(S)$. A net $(m_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ of finite means is said to be *left strongly regular*, if it satisfies the following property :

For all $s \in S$, we have $\lim_{\alpha} \|\ell_s^* m_{\alpha} - m_{\alpha}\| = 0$.

The limit is taken with respect to the norm of the dual $\ell^{\infty}(S)^*$; where the mappings $\ell_s^* m_{\alpha}$ are defined by $\ell_s^* m_{\alpha}(f) := m_{\alpha}(\ell_s f)$, for all $f \in \ell^{\infty}(S)$. For more details about this concept please refer to [14].

1.2.3 Representations of semi-topological semigroups

Let S be a semi-topological semigroup and (Y, τ) be a Hausdorff topological space. A *representation* of S on Y is a family $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} : s \in S\}$ of mappings from Y into itself subject to the following condition :

For all
$$s, t \in S$$
, $\hat{s.t} = \hat{s} \circ \hat{t}$.

Such a representation is said to be *separately continuous* if for all $s_o \in S$ and $y_o \in Y$, the mappings : $s \mapsto \hat{s}(y_o) : S \to K$, $y \mapsto \hat{s}_o(y) : Y \to Y$ are both continuous. The representation is *jointly continuous* if the mapping $(s, y) \mapsto \hat{s}(y) : S \times Y \to Y$ is continuous when $S \times Y$ is endowed with the product topology. Given $y \in Y$, the *orbit* of y is denoted and defined by $\mathcal{O}_y := \{\hat{s}(y) ; s \in S\}$. A point $y \in Y$ is called a *common fixed point* for S (or a *fixed point* for S), if it satisfies $\hat{s}(y) = y$ for all $s \in S$. We shall denote by F(S) the set of all such y and call it the *fixed point set* of S in Y. A subset M of Y is said to be S-*invariant* if for all $s \in S$, we have $\hat{s}(M) \subset M$. We shall adopt the following notations : Given $y \in Y$ then the symbol "s.y" stands for $\hat{s}(y)$ and "s.M" for $\hat{s}(M)$.

• If Y is a compact Hausdorff space, then given a left translation invariant subspace Φ of $C_b(S)$, we say that \mathfrak{S} is an A-representation of S, Φ on Y if for all $f \in C(Y)$ and $y \in Y$, the mapping $s \mapsto f(s.y) : S \to \mathbb{R}$ belongs to Φ , cf. [52].

• If Y is a Banach space and $M \subset Y$ is a non-empty subset, then a mapping $T: M \to M$ is said to be *non-expansive* if it satisfies the following inequality :

$$||T(x) - T(y)|| \le ||x - y||$$
, for all $x, y \in M$.

In this case, a representation of S on M is said to be a *non-expansive* representation, if for all $s \in S$ the mapping $\hat{s} : M \to M$ is non-expansive.

Example 1.2.3.1 (Non-expansive mappings) (cf. [38])

• Let B be the unit ball of c_0 , then the mapping $T : B \to B$ given by $T(x) = (x_1, 1 - |x_1|, x_2, x_3, \cdots)$ is non-expansive with fixed point set $F(T) = \{-(1, 0, 0, \cdots), (1, 0, 0, \cdots)\}.$

• If $K := \{x \in \ell^1 ; x_i \ge 0, \|x\| = 1\}$ then the map $T : K \to K$ defined by $T(x) = (0, x_1, x_2, \cdots)$, is non-expansive and fixed point free.

Remark 1.2.3.2. In infinite dimension, a non-expansive mapping on a bounded closed convex set may or may not possess a fixed point. The second example shows that in the Schauder fixed point theorem (see [58]) the compactness condition is crucial and cannot be dropped in general. On the other hand, the first example shows that uniqueness of a fixed point is not guaranteed.

Example 1.2.3.3 (Non-expansive representation) Let S be a semitopological semigroup, let M(S) denote the set of all means on LUC(S)with the weak* topology; then $\mathfrak{S} = \{\ell_s^* ; s \in S\}$ is a jointly continuous non-expansive representation of S on M(S).

1.2.4 Some geometric properties of Banach spaces

• Normal structure. Let K be a non-void bounded closed convex subset of a Banach space E. We say that K has normal structure if for all closed convex subset M of K whose diameter $\delta(M)$ is positive, then there is $x \in M$ such that :

$$\sup_{y \in M} \|x - y\| < \delta(M)$$

This notion was introduced in 1948 by Brodskii and Milman in [9]. In general, a normal structure condition is necessary in order to ensure the existence of a fixed point for a non-expansive mapping, by virtue of Alspach's remarkable counter-example in [1] answering an open problem for 15 years. An application of this concept yields the following result due to Kirk and which can be reformulated as follows : Bounded closed convex subsets with normal structure of reflexive spaces have the fixed point property for non-expansive mappings; and actually, this theorem still holds even for non-reflexive Banach spaces, see [38].

Example 1.2.4.1 Norm compact convex subsets of Banach spaces always possess normal structure, this fact was proved by DeMarr in [17].

Note that this fails in infinite dimension when dealing with weak topologies. In fact, Alspach [1] constructed a fixed point free isometry on the following non-empty weakly compact convex set

$$K = \{ f \in L^1[0,1] ; 0 \le f \le 2 \text{ a.e and } \int_{[0,1]} f d\lambda = 1 \}.$$

Note that K cannot have a normal structure according to Kirk's result.

Let us fix K be a non-empty bounded subset of a Banach space E.

• Asymptotic center. Given a decreasing net $(W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}$ of non-void subsets of K, its asymptotic center in K is denoted and defined by :

$$\operatorname{AC}((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K) = \{ x \in K ; \inf_{\gamma} \sup_{y \in W_{\gamma}} \| x - y \| = r((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K) \},\$$

where $r((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K) := \inf_{y \in K} \inf_{\gamma} \sup_{z \in W_{\gamma}} ||y - z||$ is the asymptotic radius of $(W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}$. If K is weakly compact and convex, then its asymptotic center is non-void with the same properties as K (cf. [47]).

The concept of an asymptotic center was introduced by Edelstein [21] in 1972 for bounded sequences in uniformly convex spaces allowing him to derive a fixed point theorem generalizing a result of Browder cf. [10]. Lim [47] proposed the above definition as an extension of Edelstein's. The asymptotic center of a bounded sequence $(x_n)_n$ in K denoted AC $((x_n)_n, K)$, was defined as the set :

$$\{x \in K ; \limsup_{n} \|x - x_n\| = \inf_{y \in K} \limsup_{n} \|y - x_n\|\}.$$

Note that if we let $W_n := \{x_i ; i \ge n\}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then both definitions coincide. For related results about this concept cf. [18] and [19].

• Asymptotic normal structure. A convex set K is said to have asymptotic normal structure, if the asymptotic center of any decreasing net $(W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}$ of non-empty subsets of any bounded closed convex subset W of K with $\delta(W) > 0$ is a proper subset of W. By definition, asymptotic normal structure \Rightarrow normal structure (just by fixing any direct set Γ , and define $W_{\gamma} = W$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$). Actually, the converse holds and it was proved by Lim in [47]. This surprising result was the key for proving that any left reversible semi-topological semigroup S possesses the following fixed point property :

Any separately continuous non-expansive representation of a left reversible semi-topological semigroup on a non-void weakly compact convex subset with normal structure of a Hausdorff locally convex space possesses a common fixed point. This result generalizes a fixed point theorem of Mitchell [54] for left reversible (discrete) semigroups acting non-expansively on a compact convex subset of Banach space.

1.2.5 Some Notations

Throughout this thesis, given a non-void subset A of Banach space E or its dual, or a subset of a topological space (E, τ) , we shall adopt the following notations depending on the context :

|A| : cardinality of A;

 $\delta(A)$: diameter of A;

 \overline{A} : closure of A with respect to the norm topology;

 \overline{A}^{wk} : closure of A in the weak topology $\sigma(E, E^*)$ on E;

 \overline{A}^{wk*} : closure of A in the weak* topology $\sigma(E^*, E)$;

 \overline{A}^{τ} : closure of A with respect to a topology τ ;

co(A) : convex hull of A;

 $\overline{co}(A)$: normed closed convex hull of A.

CHAPTER 2

Amenable semigroups and non-linear fixed point properties on weakly compact convex subsets of Banach spaces

2.1 A characterization of left amenability

Given a semigroup S, from the definition of a mean, the set M(S) of all means on $\ell^{\infty}(S)$ sits inside the unit sphere of the dual space $\ell^{\infty}(S)^*$. On the other hand, using the Hahn-Banach separation theorem (locally convex spaces version), one can show that the convex hull of all finite means is dense in M(S) in the weak* topology, and therefore every mean in M(S) is a weak* limit of net of finite means. Since in infinite dimension the weak* topology is not first countable, a mean need not be the limit of a sequence of finite means. However, we have the following :

Theorem 2.1.1. Let S be a countable left amenable discrete semigroup. Then, S is left amenable if and only if, there is a sequence of finite means converging weak^{*} to a left invariant mean m on $\ell^{\infty}(S)$. **Proof.** Clearly, one direction is obvious. For the converse, let us fix $S := \{s_1, s_2, \dots, s_n, \dots\}$ be a countable left amenable discrete semigroup. From [43, theorem 5.1], there is a sequence $(m_n)_n$ of finite means that is left strongly regular (cf. [35] for a proof). Since the unit ball of $\ell^{\infty}(S)^*$ is weak* compact, $(m_n)_n$ possesses a subnet $(m_{n_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in (A,\mathcal{R})}$ that is weak* convergent. Let us set m be the weak*-limit of $(m_{n_{\alpha}})_{\alpha}$. Using the fact that $(m_n)_n$ is left strongly regular then by induction, we have : • For n = 1, there is $n_1 \geq 1$ such that $n \geq n_1 \Rightarrow ||\ell_{s_1}^*m_n - m_n|| \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Then we choose an index $\alpha_1 \in A$ such that $\alpha_1 \mathcal{R} \alpha \Rightarrow n_{\alpha} \geq n_1$.

• For n = 2 then, we fix $n_2 \ge \max(2, n_1 + 1)$ such that : for $n \ge n_2$, we have $\|\ell_{s_i}^* m_n - m_n\| \le \frac{1}{2^2}$ for all $i \in \{1, 2\}$; and an index $\alpha_2 \in A$ subject to the properties :

$$\alpha_1 \mathcal{R} \alpha_2$$
 and $\alpha_2 \mathcal{R} \alpha \Rightarrow n_\alpha \ge n_2$.

• By induction, if n = p, let us fix $n_p \ge \max(p, n_{p-1} + 1)$ with the following property : $n \ge n_p \Rightarrow \|\ell_{s_i}^* m_n - m_n\| \le \frac{1}{2^p}$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, p\}$. Next we pick $\alpha_p \in A$ with the following properties :

$$\alpha_{p-1}\mathcal{R}\alpha_p$$
 and for all $\alpha \in A$, $\alpha_p\mathcal{R}\alpha \Rightarrow n_\alpha \ge n_p$.

Then by induction we have constructed three sequences : $(\alpha_k)_k, (n_k)_k$ and $(m_{n_{\alpha_k}})_k$ such that, given $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the following facts hold : $\alpha_k \mathcal{R} \alpha_{k+1}, n_k \geq k, n_{k+1} > n_k, \alpha_k \mathcal{R} \alpha \Rightarrow n_\alpha \geq n_k$ and moreover

$$\|\ell_{s_i}^* m_n - m_n\| \leq \frac{1}{2^k}$$
 for all $n \geq n_k$, for all $i \in \{1, \cdots, k\}$.

Note that $(m_{n_{\alpha_k}})_k$ is a subnet of $(m_{n_\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$. Indeed, given $\tilde{\alpha}$ in A, since $n_k \to +\infty$, we can choose $\tilde{k} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $n_{\tilde{k}} > n_{\tilde{\alpha}}$. Given $k \geq \tilde{k}$, if we have $\alpha_k \mathcal{R} \tilde{\alpha}$ then we would have $n_{\tilde{\alpha}} \geq n_k \geq n_{\tilde{k}} \Rightarrow n_{\tilde{\alpha}} > n_{\tilde{\alpha}}$ which is not possible. So we have necessarily $\tilde{\alpha} \mathcal{R} \alpha_k$. Therefore it follows that for all $k \geq \tilde{k}$, $\tilde{\alpha} \mathcal{R} \alpha_k$, which shows that our assertion is true. On the other hand, since m is a pointwise limit of $(m_{n_\alpha})_{\alpha}$, then a fortiori it is for the subnet $(m_{n_{\alpha_k}})_k$. Now we show that m is left invariant. Let $f \in \ell^{\infty}(S)$ and $s = s_j \in S$ fixed. Given $\epsilon > 0$, let us choose $k_{s,\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $k_{s,\epsilon} \geq j$ and $\frac{1}{2^{k_{s,\epsilon}}} \leq \frac{\epsilon}{\|f\|_{\infty} + 1}$. Then for all $k \geq k_{s,\epsilon}$, we have :

$$\begin{aligned} |\ell_s^* m(f) - m(f)| &\leq |\ell_s^* m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - \ell_s^* m(f)| + |\ell_s^* m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f)| \\ &+ |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - m(f)| \\ &\leq |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(\ell_s f) - m(\ell_s f)| + ||\ell_s^* m_{n_{\alpha_k}} - m_{n_{\alpha_k}}|| ||f||_{\infty} \\ &+ |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - m(f)| \\ &\leq \frac{||f||_{\infty}}{2^{k_{s,\epsilon}}} + |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(\ell_s f) - m(\ell_s f)| + |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - m(f)| \\ &\leq \epsilon + |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(\ell_s f) - m(\ell_s f)| + |m_{n_{\alpha_k}}(f) - m(f)| \end{aligned}$$

Using the fact that $m = \text{weak}^*-\lim_k m_{n_{\alpha_k}}$, we get for k large enough

$$|\ell_s^* m(f) - m(f)| \le 2\epsilon.$$

As ϵ is arbitrary, then we have

$$\ell_s^*m(f) = m(\ell_s f) = m(f)$$
, for all $f \in \ell^{\infty}(S)$ and for all $s \in S$

. This means that m is a left invariant mean and to finish the proof, we let $m_k := m_{n_{\alpha_k}}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. \Box

Example 2.1.2. Semigroups with this property includes all metrizable compact left amenable semi-topological semigroups. In fact, if S is such a semigroup, then LUC(S) = C(S) is (norm) separable and therefore, the unit ball of $LUC(S)^*$ is a compact metric space in the weak^{*} topology (e.g. the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^1). Such semigroups includes also all compact topological groups (e.g. finite groups, the unit circle).

Now we look fixed point properties. In [3], Belluce and Kirk proved that commutative families of non-expansive mappings are solutions to problem 1 if the underlying Banach space is strictly convex. This result was proved earlier for a single map by Edelstein (cf. [20]), and later extended by induction by Belluce and Kirk. We point out that in Edelstein's proof, the geometric property "strict convexity" has played an essential role. We are able to show that for uniformly convex spaces, Belluce and Kirk's result holds for left amenable semigroups of nonexpansive mappings. If the underlying space is no longer uniformly convex, then if we require that the compact space on which the semigroup is acting has normal structure, then our conclusion still holds in this setting. We shall also prove that there is a class of semi-topological semigroups (including left amenable semigroups) for which one can remove both conditions "uniform convexity" and "normal structure" if we assume that representations are weakly continuous.

2.2 A non-linear common fixed point theorem for bounded closed convex sets in uniformly convex spaces

Theorem 2.2.1. Let S be a discrete semigroup. If S is left reversible, then it possesses the following fixed point property :

 (F_{uc}) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s}; s \in S\}$ is a non-expansive representation of S on a non-void bounded closed convex subset K of a uniformly convex Banach space E, then K contains a common fixed point for S.

Proof. Let us fix $x_o \in K^{\tau}$. Since S is left reversible, one can make S into a filtered set by letting :

$$a \leq b \Leftrightarrow b.S \subset a.S$$
 for all $a, b \in S$.

Then $(s.x_o)_{s\in S}$ becomes a net of elements of K. Since the underlying space is uniformly convex, as known (see [2]), the asymptotic center

$$AC((s.x_o)_{s\in S}, K^{\tau}) := \{x \in K^{\tau}; \limsup_{s} ||x-s.x_o|| = \inf_{y\in K^{\tau}} \limsup_{s} ||y-s.x_o||\}$$

is a singleton. Let $AC((s.x_o)_{s\in S}, K^{\tau}) = \{\bar{x}\}$. Now we show that the
asymptotic center is S-invariant.

• Step 1 : We assume that S is unital. Let $x \in AC((s.x_o)_{s\in S}, K^{\tau})$ and $s \in S$ fixed. Given $\epsilon > 0$, there is $s_{\epsilon} \in S$ such that

$$\sup_{s \ge s_{\epsilon}} \|x - s \cdot x_o\| \le \inf_{y \in K^{\tau}} \limsup_{s} \|x - s \cdot x_o\| + \epsilon \quad (1)$$

Let us pick $t^s_{\epsilon} \in S$ such that

$$t_{\epsilon}^s \geq s$$
 and $t_{\epsilon}^s \geq ss_{\epsilon}$.

If $t \geq t_{\epsilon}^{s}$, then $t = ss_{\epsilon}u$ for some $u \in S$. Then using the nonexpansiveness of the representation, we get :

$$||s.x - t.x_o|| = ||s.x - ss_{\epsilon}u.x_o|| \le ||x - s_{\epsilon}u.x_o|| \le \sup_{s \ge s_{\epsilon}} ||x - s.x_o||$$

because $s_{\epsilon}u \geq s_{\epsilon}$. Since $t \geq t^s_{\epsilon}$ is arbitrary, then together with (1) we obtain

$$\limsup_{t} \|s.x - t.x_o\| \le \sup_{s \ge s_{\epsilon}} \|x - s.x_o\| \le \inf_{y \in K^{\tau}} \limsup_{s} \|x - s.x_o\| + \epsilon$$

It follows that $s.x \in AC((s.x_o)_{s\in S}, K^{\tau})$. Hence, $s.\bar{x} = \bar{x}$ for all $s \in S$.

• Step 2 : S is an arbitrary left reversible semigroup. Consider an unitization S^e of S obtained by adjoining a unit (i.e. we extend the product of S by letting se = es := s and e.e := e). Then we have

$$sS^e \cap eS^e = (sS \cup \{s\}) \cap S^e = sS \cup \{s\} \neq \emptyset$$
 for any $s \in S$.

Next, we extend the representation of S on K to S^e by letting $\hat{e}(x) := x$ for all $x \in K$. Then by Step 1, S^e possesses a common fixed point in K which is a fortiori a common fixed point for S. \Box

Corollary 2.2.2. Theorem 2.2.1 extends Browder [10, theorem 1,2].

Proof. A commuting family generates an abelian semigroup which is clearly left reversible. \Box

Let S be a semigroup and $(S_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in J}$ be a collection of sub-semigroups of it. Then S is said to be a *direct union* of the S_{α} 's if :

1.
$$S = \bigcup_{\alpha} S_{\alpha};$$

2. For all $\alpha, \beta \in J$, there is $\gamma \in J$ such that $S_{\alpha} \cup S_{\beta} \subset S_{\gamma}$.

Example 2.2.3. Let S be left amenable discrete semigroup. Then S is the direct union of a net of countable left amenable sub-semigroups. In fact, we know that each countable sub-semigroup of S is contained in some countable left amenable one, cf. [25]. Define

 $\mathcal{S} := \{ Z \subset S ; Z \text{ is a left amenable countable sub-semigroup} \}.$

Note that S is non-void because if we fix $s \in S$, the commutative semigroup $\langle s \rangle$ is countable and left amenable. Let us order S by letting $Z \leq Z' \Leftrightarrow Z \subset Z'$. Then it is clear that $S = \bigcup_{Z \in S} Z$ and given $Z, Z' \in S$, there is $Z'' \in S$ such that $Z \cup Z' \subset Z''$. Because Z and Z'being countable, it follows that $\langle Z \cup Z' \rangle$ is countable too, and we choose $Z'' \in S$ such that $Z'' \supset \langle Z \cup Z' \rangle$ using [25, theorem E1].

Corollary 2.2.4. Let $S = \bigcup_{\alpha \in J} S_{\alpha}$ be a direct union. If each S_{α} is left amenable, then S possesses the fixed point property (F_{ns}) .

Proof. Indeed, any semigroup which is a direct union of a sub-collection of its left amenable sub-semigroups is left amenable (see [14]). \Box

Remark 2.2.5. We point out that the asymptotic center of a sequence is extendable to nets, (cf. [48]). On the other hand, it is known that uniformly convex spaces possess normal structure (combine [4],[47]), so it is natural to look at whether theorem 2.2.1 is extendable to weakly compact convex sets with normal structure in general Banach spaces.

2.3 Some non-linear fixed point theorems on weakly compact convex subsets of Banach spaces

In this section, we first give a sufficient condition such that the fixed point theorem 2.2.1 is partially extendable to general Banach spaces. Afterwards, we give a positive answer to problem 2 for a class of semitopological semigroups including left amenable discrete semigroups and amenable locally compact groups. An extension will be established in chapter 3.

Definition 2.3.1. Given a representation $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ of a semitopological semigroup S on a compact Hausdorff space (K, τ) , we say that \mathfrak{S} is $C(K)^+$ -continuous, if for all $f \in C(K)$ we have :

$$f \ge 0 \Rightarrow f \circ \hat{s} : K \to \mathbb{R}$$
 is continuous.

Note that any separately continuous representation of a semigroup S on a separated compact space K is automatically $C(K)^+$ -continuous. **Example 2.3.2.** Let K = [0,1] with the usual topology, $f : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$, $x \mapsto \sin(x)$, and $S = (\mathbb{N}, +)$. Then the representation $\hat{n}(x) := f^n(x)$ (where f^n denotes the n^{th} iterate of f) is $C(K)^+$ -continuous.

Theorem 2.3.3. Let S be a countable semi-topological semigroup. If LMC(S) is left amenable, then S has the following fixed point property :

 (F_{ns}) : Whenever K is a non-void weakly compact convex set with normal structure in a Banach space E, and $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} : s \in S\}$ is a nonexpansive representation of S on K such that for all $x \in K$, the mapping $s \mapsto s.x$ is continuous when K is given the weak topology, then there is in K a common fixed point for S.

The following lemmas will be needed for proving this result.

Lemma 2.3.4. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup and \mathfrak{S} be a representation of S on a non-void compact Hausdorff space M. If for all $x \in M$, $s \mapsto s.x$ is continuous, then \mathfrak{S} is an A-representation of S, $\mathrm{LMC}(S)$ on M.

Proof. Let $x \in K$ and $f \in C(M)$ fixed. Consider $\theta_x^f : S \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\theta_x^f(t) = f(t.x)$. Then $\sup_{s \in S} |\theta_x^f(s)| \leq \sup_{y \in M} |f(y)| = ||f||_{\infty} < \infty$. Therefore $\theta_x^f \in C_b(S)$. Now let $s_{\alpha} \to s$ be a convergent net in S and pick $m \in \beta S$ (where βS denotes the spectrum of $C_b(S)$). Consider

$$\theta_x : C(M) \to \mathbb{R}$$

 $h \mapsto m(\theta_x^h)$

Then θ_x defines a non-zero (because $m \circ \theta_x(1) = m(e) = 1$), multiplicative linear functional on C(M). Therefore there is a unique $z_x \in M$ such that $m \circ \theta_x = \delta_{z_x}$, (the evaluation map at z_x). We have $\ell_z \theta_x^f = \theta_x^{f \circ \hat{z}}$ for all $z \in S$. It follows :

$$|m(\ell_{s_{\alpha}}\theta_{x}^{f}) - m(\ell_{s}\theta_{x}^{f})| = |m(\theta_{x}^{f \circ \hat{s}_{\alpha}}) - m(\theta_{x}^{f \circ \hat{s}})|$$
$$= |m \circ \theta_{x}(f \circ \hat{s}_{\alpha}) - m \circ \theta_{x}(f \circ \hat{s})|$$
$$= |\delta_{z_{x}}(f \circ \hat{s}_{\alpha}) - \delta_{z_{x}}(f \circ \hat{s})|$$
$$= |f(s_{\alpha}.z_{x}) - f(s.z_{x})| \to 0$$

Therefore, $\ell_{t_{\alpha}}\theta_x(f) \to \ell_t\theta_x(f)$ with respect to $\sigma(C_b(S), \beta S)$ which shows that $\theta_x^f \in \text{LMC}(S)$. \Box

For the proof of this result, we shall need the following general lemma :

Lemma 2.3.5. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup and Φ be a left translation invariant closed subspace of $C_b(S)$ containing constant functions. If Φ has a left invariant mean, then for any A-representation $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ of S, Φ on a compact Hausdorff topological space (K, τ) , the following facts hold :

1. If \mathfrak{S} is $C(K)^+$ -continuous, any non-empty S-invariant closed subset

 Ω of K contains a non-void closed set ω_τ such that :

$$\omega_{\tau} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$$
, for all $s \in S$.

2. If in addition, the mapping \hat{s} is continuous for all $s \in S$, then ω_{τ} satisfies the following property

$$s.\omega_{\tau} = \omega_{\tau} \text{ for all } s \in S.$$

3. If there is a completely regular second countable topology $\tilde{\tau}$ on K such that $\tilde{\tau} \supset \tau$ and for all $s \in S$ the mapping \hat{s} is $\tilde{\tau}$ -continuous, then in part 1 the $C(K)^+$ -continuity condition can be dropped.

4. If S is countable, K is a subset of a Banach space E, $\tau = \sigma(E, E^*)$, then in part 3 one can remove the second countability condition if we assume that each mapping \hat{s} is norm continuous.

Proof. Let m be a left invariant mean on Φ , and let $(m_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in J}$ be a net of finite means converging weak^{*} to m. Let

$$m_{\gamma} := \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} \delta_{s_i^{\gamma}}$$
 for all index $\gamma \in J$.

Where for all γ fixed, $\sum_i t_i^{\gamma} = 1$, $t_i^{\gamma} \ge 0$. Let us pick $x_o \in \Omega^{\tau}$. Fix a non-void, S-invariant closed subset Ω of K. Then the mapping

$$\Theta_{x_o}: \ C(\Omega) \ \to \ \mathbb{R}$$
$$f \mapsto \ m(\theta^f_{x_o})$$

where $\theta_{x_o}^f: S \to \mathbb{R}$ is given by $\theta_{x_o}^f(s) := f(s.x_o)$ for all $f \in \ell^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Then Θ_{x_o} is a nonzero non-negative linear functional on $C(\Omega)$, and therefore, by the Riesz representation theorem, there is a regular Borel measure μ on the Borel σ -algebra of Ω (which is here a probability measure since $\mu(\Omega) = m(1)=1$) such that $\Theta_{x_o}(f) = \int_{\Omega} f \ d\mu$, for all $f \in C(\Omega)$. Let ω_{τ} denote the support of μ . Recall that the support is defined by

$$\omega_{\tau} := \bigcap \{ F \subset \Omega^{\tau} ; F \text{ is } \tau \text{-closed and } \mu(F) = 1 \}.$$

From the outer regularity of μ , for all $n \ge 1$, there is an open set O_n in Ω such that

$$\omega_{\tau} \subset O_n \text{ and } \mu(O_n \setminus \omega_{\tau}) \leq \frac{1}{n}$$
 (1).

Given an open set O of Ω containing ω_{τ} , then by compactness we have

$$\Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (\Omega \setminus F_i) \cup O$$

where each F_i is closed and $\mu(F_i)=1$. Then it follows that $\mu(O)=1$ (2). Now let $G := \bigcap_n O_n$ and $\tilde{O_n} = O_1 \cap \cdots \cap O_n$, for all n. Then by using (1) and (2) it follows that

$$\mu(\omega_{\tau}) = \mu(G)$$
$$= \lim_{n} \mu(\tilde{O}_{n})$$
$$= 1.$$

Now let $s \in S$. Given $\epsilon > 0$, by outer regularity let $O_{\epsilon} \subset \Omega$ be a τ -open set with the properties :

$$\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau} \subset O_{\epsilon} \text{ and } \mu(O_{\epsilon} \setminus \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}) \leq \epsilon.$$

By using Urysohn's lemma, let us pick $f \in C(\Omega)$ such that $0 \leq f \leq 1$, supp $(f) \subset O_{\epsilon}$ and $f \equiv 1$ on $\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$. Then we have :

$$1 = \int_{\Omega} d\mu = \int_{\omega_{\tau}} d\mu$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} f \circ \hat{s} \, d\mu$$

$$= m(\theta_{x_o}^{f \circ \hat{s}}) = m(\ell_s \theta_{x_o}^f) = m(\theta_{x_o}^f)$$

$$= \int_{O_{\epsilon} \setminus \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}} f \, d\mu + \int_{\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}} f \, d\mu$$

$$\leq \epsilon + \mu(\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau})$$

 ϵ being arbitrary, it follows that $\mu(\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau})=1$, and therefore from the definition of ω_{τ} , it follows that $\omega_{\tau} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$ which proves the first part. For the second part, we first note that if each mapping \hat{s} is continuous, then by the forgoing, we have :

$$\omega_{\tau} \subset s.\omega_{\tau}$$
 for all $s \in S$

since each. So it remains to show the reverse inclusion. Given $s \in S$, since $\hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_{\tau})$ is closed, then it is enough to show that it contains ω_{τ} . As before given $\epsilon > 0$, from the outer regularity, there is $O_{\epsilon} \subset \tilde{\Omega}$ a τ -open subset such that :

$$\omega_{\tau} \subset O_{\epsilon} \text{ and } \mu(O_{\epsilon} \setminus \omega_{\tau}) \leq \epsilon.$$

Let us choose $f \in C(\Omega)$ with the properties : $0 \le f \le 1$, $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset O_{\epsilon}$ and $f \equiv 1$ on ω_{τ} . Then we have :

$$1 = \int_{\Omega} d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f d\mu$$

= $m(\theta_{x_o}^f) = m(\ell_s \theta_{x_o}^f)$
= $\int_{\omega_\tau} f(s.x) d\mu(x)$
= $\int_{\hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_\tau)} d\mu(x) + \int_{O_\epsilon \setminus \hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_\tau)} f(s.x) d\mu(x)$
 $\leq \mu(\hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_\tau)) + \int_{O_\epsilon \setminus \hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_\tau)} d\mu(x)$
 $\leq \mu(\hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_\tau)) + \epsilon$

Therefore, as ϵ is arbitrary, it follows that $\omega_{\tau} \subset \hat{s}^{-1}(\omega_{\tau})$; which implies $s.\omega_{\tau} \subset \omega_{\tau}$. Hence, $s.\omega_{\tau} = \omega_{\tau}$ for all $s \in S$. Finally for the last part, let $\tilde{\tau}$ be a completely regular topology on K finer than τ . Let $C_b(\Omega)$ be the Banach algebra of all bounded $\tilde{\tau}$ -continuous real-valued functions on Ω , and $\beta\Omega$ be the Stone-Cech compactification of Ω . Fix $h : \Omega \to \beta\Omega$ be an homeomorphism from Ω onto a dense subspace of $\beta\Omega$, and define

$$\psi: C_b(\beta\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$$

 $f \mapsto m(\theta_{x_a}^{f \circ h})$

Note that using the Hahn-Banach extension theorem if necessary, we may assume that m is a mean on $\ell^{\infty}(S)$ such that $\ell_s^*m = m$ on Φ . Then ψ is a well-defined non-zero non-negative linear functional, and $\beta\Omega$ being a compact Hausdorff space, there is a regular Borel measure $\tilde{\mu}$ on the Borel σ -algebra $B(\beta\Omega)$ of $\beta\Omega$ such that : $\psi(f) = \int_{\beta\Omega} f d\tilde{\mu}$, for all $f \in C_b(\beta\Omega)$. Given $f \in C_b(\Omega)$ we shall denote by f^β its unique continuous extension to $\beta\Omega$. We claim that for all τ -open set O in Ω containing ω_{τ} we have $\tilde{\mu}(h(O)) = 1$. Indeed, since (Ω, τ) is normal, pick a τ -open set U with $O \supset \overline{U}^{\tau} \supset U \supset \omega_{\tau}$. Let $f \in C(\Omega)$ such that :

$$f \equiv 1 \text{ on } \omega_{\tau}, \ 0 \leq f \leq 1, \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset U.$$

Note that $C(\Omega, \tau) =: C(\Omega) \subset C_b(\Omega) := C_b(\Omega, \tilde{\tau})$ (since $\tau \subset \tilde{\tau}$). Then we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mu}(h(O)) &= \int_{h(O)} d\tilde{\mu} \\ &\geq \int_{\beta\Omega} f^{\beta} d\tilde{\mu} \\ &= m(\theta^{f}_{x_{o}}) = \int_{\Omega} f d\mu \\ &= \int_{O} f d\mu \geq \mu(\omega_{\tau}) = 1 \end{split}$$

Hence, $\tilde{\mu}(h(O)) = 1$ for all such an open set O (3). Now we show that $\tilde{\mu}(h(\omega_{\tau})) = 1$. Since Ω is τ -normal and $\overline{\tau}$ is second countable, then

$$\omega_{\tau} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \{ \overline{O_i}^{\tau} ; O_i \ \tau \text{-open}, O_i \supset \omega_{\tau} \}.$$

Let $\tilde{O}_n := \bigcap_{i=1}^n \overline{O_i}^{\tau}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then using relation (3) it follows that

$$\tilde{\mu}(h(\omega_{\tau})) = \tilde{\mu}(h(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \overline{O_{i}}^{\tau}))$$
$$= \lim_{n} \tilde{\mu}(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} h(\overline{O_{i}}^{\tau}))$$
$$= \lim_{n} \tilde{\mu}(h(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \overline{O_{i}}^{\tau})) = 1$$

Now let $s \in S$ fixed. Given $\epsilon > 0$, we choose an open set O_{ϵ} containing $\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$ such that $\mu(O_{\epsilon} \setminus \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}) \leq \epsilon$. Fix a mapping $f \in C(\Omega)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset O_{\epsilon}, \ 0 \leq f \leq 1$ and $f \equiv 1$ on $\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$. Then we have

$$1 = \tilde{\mu}(h(\omega_{\tau})) = \int_{h(\omega_{\tau})} d\tilde{\mu}$$

$$\leq \int_{\beta\Omega} (f \circ \hat{s})^{\beta} d\tilde{\mu}$$

$$= m(\theta_{x_{o}}^{f \circ \hat{s}}) = m(\ell_{s}\theta_{x_{o}}^{f}) = m(\theta_{x_{o}}^{f})$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} f d\mu$$

$$= \int_{O_{\epsilon} \setminus \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}} f d\mu + \int_{\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}} f d\mu$$

$$\leq \epsilon + \mu(\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau})$$

Thus, using the arbitrariness of ϵ , it follows that $\mu(\overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}) = 1$. Hence, we deduce the desired result $\omega_{\tau} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$, for all $s \in S$. Finally, for the last part we first construct a norm separable space containing ω_{τ} . Let $S := \{s_i ; i \in \mathbb{N}\}$. From the definition of ω_{τ} , it is easy to see that it is characterized by the property :

 $x \in \omega_{\tau}$ iff $\mu(V \cap \omega_{\tau}) > 0$ whenever V is a τ -neighborhood of x.

Consider the weakly separable (therefore norm separable) set given by $\overline{\{s_i.x_o ; i \in \mathbb{N}\}}^{\tau}$. If x is a point outside this set, then by Urysohn's lemma, there is $f \in C(\Omega)$, $f \ge 0$ such that $f(s_i.x_o) = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Then by continuity, $V := \{f > 0\}$ is a τ -neighborhood of x and we have :

$$\mu(V \cap \omega_{\tau}) = \int_{V \cap \omega_{\tau}} d\mu \leq \int_{\Omega} f d\mu$$

= $m(\theta_{x_o}^f) = \lim_{\gamma} m_{\gamma}(\theta_{x_o}^f)$
= $\lim_{\gamma} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} \delta_{s_i^{\gamma}}(\theta_{x_o}^f) = \lim_{\gamma} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} f(s_i^{\gamma} . x_o)$
= 0

Thus $\mu(V \cap \omega_{\tau}) = 0$ which implies that x cannot be in ω_{τ} and therefore, $\omega_{\tau} \subset \overline{\{s_i \cdot x_o ; i \in \mathbb{N}\}}^{\tau}$. Hence ω_{τ} is norm separable. Fix $D \subset \omega_{\tau}$ be a countable (norm) dense subset and define

$$X := \overline{\{s_i.d ; i \in \mathbb{N}, d \in D\} \cup \{s_i.x_o ; i \in \mathbb{N}\}}^{\tau}.$$

X is a norm separable (therefore second countable) subspace of Ω containing ω_{τ} . Now let $C_b(X)$ be the Banach space of all bounded norm continuous real-valued functions on X and $\delta : X \to \beta X$ be an homeomorphism onto a dense subset of βX . As in the previous part, there is a Borel measure $\tilde{\mu}$ on βX such $m(\theta_{x_o}^{f \circ \delta}) = \int_{\beta X} f d\tilde{\mu}$, for all $f \in C_b(\beta X)$. Then a similar argument as in the proof of part 3 shows that $\omega_{\tau} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{\tau}}^{\tau}$ for all $s \in S$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 2.3.3. Define

 $\Xi := \{ C \subset K ; C \neq \emptyset, \tau \text{-compact, convex and } S \text{-invariant} \}.$ Then Ξ is non-void as it contains at least K. We order Ξ backwards by inclusion,

i.e. for all $C, C' \in \Xi$, we let $C \leq C'$ if and only if $C \supset C'$.

Then it is easy to see that (Ξ, \leq) is inductive; and by Zorn's lemma, it must contain a maximal element (with respect to " \leq ") or equivalently a minimal element K^{wk} (for " \subset "). By combining the lemmas 2.3.4 and 2.3.5, there is a non-empty weakly compact subset Ω_{wk} of K^{wk} such that

$$\Omega_{wk} \subset \overline{s.\Omega_{wk}}^{wk} \text{ for all } s \in S \quad (1).$$

If K^{wk} is a singleton then we are done; otherwise, $AC(\Omega_{wk}; K^{wk})$ (of the constant net Ω_{wk}) would be a non-empty weakly compact convex and proper subset of K^{wk} . Furthermore, it is easy to see that it can be written as $\bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} K_j$, where each K_j is defined by

$$K_j := \{ x \in K^{wk} ; \sup_{y \in \Omega_{wk}} ||x - y|| \le r(\Omega_{wk}; K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j} \}.$$

In order to prove that it is S-invariant, it is enough to show that each each K_j has this property. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $x \in K_j$ and $s \in S$. We know that $\Omega_{wk} \subset \overline{s.\Omega_{wk}}^{wk}$; so given $y \in \Omega_{wk}$, let $y = \lim_{\alpha} s.y_{\alpha}$; (weak limit) for some net $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ in Ω_{wk} . From the non-expansiveness we get :

$$\|s.x - y\| \leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|s.x - s.y_{\alpha}\|$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|x - y^{\alpha}\|$$

$$\leq \sup_{z \in \Omega_{wk}} \|x - z\|$$

$$\leq r(\Omega_{wk}; K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j}$$

Since y and ϵ are arbitrary, then it follows that $s.x \in K_j$. Hence, K_j is S-invariant for all j and so is $AC(\Omega_{wk}; K^{wk})$. Thus by minimality, $AC(\Omega_{wk}; K^{wk}) = K^{wk}$ which leads to a contradiction. \Box **Remark 2.3.6.** The above theorem extends Belluce and Kirk [3, theorem 3], and Kirk [37, main result] because commuting families generate amenable semigroups and on the other hand, the continuity of $s \mapsto s.x$ is automatically satisfied for discrete semigroups.

Remark 2.3.7. If S is discrete, then in theorem 2.3.3 one can remove the countability condition. Indeed, when S is discrete and left amenable, S is a direct union of countable left amenable sub-semigroups (see example 2.2.3). So let $S = \bigcup_{\gamma \in J} S_{\gamma}$. Let K^{wk} be as in the proof of theorem 2.3.3. From the same theorem, each sub-semigroup S_{γ} possesses a common fixed point $x_{\gamma} \in K^{wk}$. Define an order on J by letting

$$\gamma \leq \gamma'$$
 if and only if $S_{\gamma} \subset S_{\gamma'}$.

Then given $\gamma_o \in J$, we let

$$W_{\gamma_o} := \{ x_\gamma \; ; \; \gamma \ge \gamma_o \}.$$

Then $(W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}$ is a decreasing net of non-void subsets of K^{wk} . Assume that K^{wk} has a positive diameter then the asymptotic center $AC((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K^{wk})$ is a non-empty weakly compact convex and proper subset of K^{wk} . On the other hand, we know that it coincides with $\bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} K_j$ where

$$K_j := \{x \in K^{wk} ; \limsup_z \|x - x_\gamma\| \le r((W_\gamma)_\gamma, K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j}\}$$

In order to prove that $AC((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K^{wk})$ is S-invariant, it is enough to show that that each K_j is. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $x \in K_j$ and $s \in S$. Fix $\gamma_s \in J$ such that $s \in S_{\gamma_s}$ and pick $\gamma_{s,\epsilon}$ with the properties

$$\gamma_{s,\epsilon} \geq \gamma_s \text{ and } \gamma_{s,\epsilon} \geq \gamma_\epsilon.$$

Then for all $\gamma \geq \gamma_{s,\epsilon}$, we have $s \cdot x_{\gamma} = x_{\gamma}$, and moreover, using the non-expansiveness we get :

$$\sup_{\gamma \ge \gamma_{s,\epsilon}} \|s.x - x_{\gamma}\| = \sup_{\gamma \ge \gamma_{s,\epsilon}} \|s.x - s.x_{\gamma}\|$$
$$\leq \sup_{\gamma \ge \gamma_{s,\epsilon}} \|x - x_{\gamma}\|$$
$$\leq r((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}, K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j}$$

Therefore $s.x \in K_j$ and it follows that the asymptotic center is Sinvariant. Then by minimality we have $AC((W_{\gamma})_{\gamma}; K^{wk}) = K^{wk}$ which is absurd. \Box

Remark. 2.3.8. The above result in remark 2.3.7 follows from Lim [47] if we make use of the fact that discrete left amenable semigroups are left reversible. On the other hand, remark 2.3.7 extends Belluce and Kirk [3, theorem 3],[4, theorem 2.1] and Kirk [37, main result].

Remark 2.3.9. Our next result shows that a normal structure condition can be avoided if we put more "regularity" on representations. Before, we need to introduce a new class of semi-topological semigroups.

Definition 2.3.10. A semi-topological semigroup is σ -left amenable, if it is a direct union of separable left amenable sub-semigroups.

Remark 2.3.11. If a semi-topological semigroup S is σ -left amenable, then for short we shall write simply "S is σ -LA". On the other hand, the class of all such semi-topological semigroups includes left amenable discrete semigroups (see example 2.2.3), all separable semi-topological semigroups, and all amenable locally compact topological groups (because of the fact that each closed subgroup is also amenable).

Theorem 2.3.12. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If S is σ -LA, then it possesses the following fixed point property :

 (F_{wk}) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a jointly weakly continuous nonexpansive representation on a non-void weakly compact convex subset K of a Banach space E, then there is in K a common fixed point for S.

In order to prove this result, we shall need the following lemmas :

Lemma 2.3.13. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. Then any jointly continuous representation of S on a non-empty compact Hausdorff space M defines an A-representation of S, LUC(S) on M.

Proof. See [41, lemma 2.1] (for direct proof); or [53, theorem 1]. \Box

Lemma 2.3.14. Let S^* be a sub-semigroup of S. Let Ω^{wk} be a nonvoid, S^* -invariant and weakly compact subset of K. If Ω^{wk} is minimal (i.e., any of its subsets with the same properties coincides with Ω^{wk}) then, the following facts hold :

1. For all $x \in \Omega^{wk}$, $\mathcal{O}_x := \{s.x ; s \in S^*\}$ is weakly dense in Ω^{wk} .

2. If S^* is left amenable, then $s \Omega^{wk} = \Omega^{wk}$ for all $s \in S^*$. If in addition S^* is separable, then Ω^{wk} is compact in the norm topology.

Proof. For part 1, it is clear that S^* -orbits are S^* -invariant and their weak closures too by the weak continuity. Therefore, the minimality yields the desired result. For part 2, the first property follows by combining lemma 2.3.5 and lemma 2.3.13. For the second part, we first need to justify that the separability of S^* can be transferred to Ω^{wk} in the weak topology. In fact, let $D \subset S^*$ be a dense subset. If we fix $x \in \Omega^{wk}$, then by continuity of $s \mapsto s.x : S^* \to \Omega^{wk}$, it follows that

$$\Omega^{wk} = \overline{\mathcal{O}_x}^{wk} \subset \overline{\{s.x \ s \in D\}}^{wk} \subset \overline{\mathcal{O}_x}^{wk} = \Omega^{wk}.$$

In order to prove the norm compactness of Ω^{wk} , it is enough to show that it is totally bounded in the norm topology since its already norm closed. For that we adapt an argument used in [45] in locally convex spaces or in [32] to this context. So let us fix $\epsilon > 0$. From the separability, let $\Omega^{wk} = \overline{\varsigma}$ (countable dense subset). Then $\Omega^{wk} \subset \bigcup_{\sigma \in \varsigma} B[\sigma, \frac{\epsilon}{2}]$. Since each $B[\sigma, \frac{\epsilon}{2}]$ is weakly closed, $\{B[\sigma, \frac{\epsilon}{2}] \cap \Omega^{wk}; \sigma \in \varsigma\}$ is a countable weakly closed covering of Ω^{wk} which is weakly compact; and therefore a Baire space. So there is $\overline{\sigma} \in \varsigma$ such that $B[\overline{\sigma}, \frac{\epsilon}{2}] \cap \Omega^{wk}$ has a non-void interior in the relative weak topology. Let $x_{\epsilon} \in \Omega^{wk}$ and V_{ϵ} be a neighborhood of the origin (in the weak topology) such that $(x_{\epsilon}+V_{\epsilon})\cap\Omega^{wk} \subset B[\overline{\sigma}, \frac{\epsilon}{2}]\cap\Omega^{wk}$. Then $(x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk} \subset B[x_{\epsilon}, \epsilon]$. Indeed, if $z \in (x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk}$ then we have $||x_{\epsilon} - z|| \leq ||x_{\epsilon} - \tilde{\sigma}|| + ||\tilde{\sigma} - z|| \leq \epsilon$. Now we pick a weak neighborhood V'_{ϵ} of the origin such that $V'_{\epsilon} + V'_{\epsilon} \subset V_{\epsilon}$. Then let $\delta_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that $B[0, \delta_{\epsilon}] \subset V'_{\epsilon}$ (this can be done because the norm topology is finer than the weak topology). We have $\Omega^{wk} \subset \bigcup_{\sigma \in \varsigma} B[\sigma, \delta_{\epsilon}]$. The subset $\varsigma \subset \Omega^{wk}$ being countable, let $\varsigma := \{\sigma_j ; j = 1, 2, \cdots\}$. Then by induction we have :

- For n=1, since $x_{\epsilon} \in \overline{\mathcal{O}_{\sigma_1}}^{wk}$ then, there is an element $s_1 \in S^*$ such that $\widehat{s_1}(\sigma_1) - x_{\epsilon} \in V'_{\epsilon}$.
- For n=2, since $x_{\epsilon} \in \overline{\mathcal{O}_{s_1,\sigma_1}}^{wk}$ then, there is an element $s_2 \in S^*$ with $\widehat{s}_1(\sigma_2) x_{\epsilon} \in V'_{\epsilon}$.
- For n=3, since $x_{\epsilon} \in \overline{\mathcal{O}_{s_2s_1,\sigma_3}}^{wk}$ then, there exists $s_3 \in S^*$ such that $\widehat{s_3s_2s_1}(\sigma_3) - x_{\epsilon} \in V'_{\epsilon}$.
- If n=p, since $x_{\epsilon} \in \overline{\mathcal{O}_{s_{p-1}\cdots s_1.\sigma_p}}^{wk}$, we pick $s_p \in S^*$ subject to the property $\widehat{s_p \cdots s_1}(\sigma_p) x_{\epsilon} \in V'_{\epsilon}$.

Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$, if $x \in \widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(B[\sigma_n, \delta_{\epsilon}] \cap \Omega)$, let $x := \widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(\sigma_n + z_x)$ for some $z_x \in B[0, \delta_{\epsilon}]$. Then using the non-expansiveness, we obtain :

$$\|\widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(\sigma_n) - x\| = \|\widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(\sigma_n) - \widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(\sigma_n + z_x)\|$$
$$\leq \|\sigma_n - (\sigma_n + z_x)\| = \|z_x\|$$
$$\leq \delta_{\epsilon}.$$

The above inequality yields the following inclusions :

$$\widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(B[\sigma_n, \delta_{\epsilon}] \cap \Omega^{wk}) \subset B[\widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(\sigma_n), \delta_{\epsilon}] \cap \Omega^{wk}$$
$$\subset x_{\epsilon} + V'_{\epsilon} + V'_{\epsilon}$$
$$\subset x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}.$$

Hence for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $\widehat{s_n \cdots s_1}(B[\sigma_n, \delta_{\epsilon}] \cap \Omega^{wk}) \subset x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}$. Thus

$$\Omega^{wk} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B[\sigma_j, \delta_{\epsilon}] \cap \Omega^{wk} \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} \widehat{s_j \cdots s_1}^{-1} (x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}).$$

Then $\{\widehat{s_j \cdots s_1}^{-1}(x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk}; j = 1, 2, \cdots\}$ is a weak open covering of the weakly compact set Ω^{wk} . Therefore there is $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\Omega^{wk} = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \widehat{s_i \cdots s_1}^{-1}(x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk}$. Since $\widehat{s_m \cdots s_1}(\Omega^{wk}) = \Omega^{wk}$ then

$$\Omega^{wk} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \widehat{s_j \cdots s_1}^{-1} (x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk} \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \widehat{s_m \cdots s_{j+1}} ((x_{\epsilon} + V_{\epsilon}) \cap \Omega^{wk})$$
$$\subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \widehat{s_m \cdots s_{j+1}} (B[x_{\epsilon}, \epsilon] \cap \Omega^{wk})$$

By non-expansiveness, we have $\|\widehat{s_m \cdots s_{i+1}}(y) - \widehat{s_m \cdots s_{i+1}}(x_{\epsilon})\| \leq \epsilon$ for all $y \in B[x_{\epsilon}, \epsilon]$ and this shows that

$$\Omega^{wk} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^m B[\widehat{s_m \cdots s_{i+1}}(x_{\epsilon}), \epsilon].$$

Which shows the norm total boundedness of Ω^{wk} and therefore, its compactness in the norm topology. \Box

We are now ready to prove the theorem.

Proof. Let $S = \bigcup_{\gamma} S_{\gamma}$ where each sub-semigroup S_{γ} is left amenable. • Step 1 : Each S_{γ} has a non-empty fixed point set. In fact, let us fix γ . By a Zorn's lemma argument, let K^{wk} be a minimal non-empty weakly compact convex and S_{γ} -invariant subset of K. If we consider the restriction of the representation of S on K to $S_{\gamma} \times K^{wk}$, then the left amenability of S_{γ} implies, via lemma 2.3.14, the existence of non-void norm compact subset Ω^{wk} of K^{wk} such that $s.\Omega^{wk} = \Omega^{wk}$ for all $s \in S_{\gamma}$. On the other hand, if Ω^{wk} is not a singleton then from [17], there is $x_o \in \overline{co}(\Omega^{wk})$ such that :

$$\sup_{x \in \Omega^{wk}} \|x - x_o\| < \delta(\Omega^{wk}).$$

Then it is easy to see that $\bigcap_{x \in \Omega^{wk}} B[x, \sup_{z \in \Omega^{wk}} ||x_o - z||] \cap K^{wk}$ is a proper, non-void, weakly compact, convex and S_{γ} -invariant subset of K^{wk} ; contradicting the minimality of K^{wk} . So, necessarily Ω^{wk} is a singleton; the desired point we are looking for.

• Step 2 : Now we assume that S is an arbitrary σ -LA semigroup.

Let us set
$$\gamma_i \leq \gamma_j$$
 if and only if $S_{\gamma_i} \subset S_{\gamma_j}$.

For all γ , let $x_{\gamma} \in K$ be a "partial" common fixed point for S_{γ} , i.e., $s.x_{\gamma} = x_{\gamma}$, for all $s \in S_{\gamma}$. By weak compactness of K, there is a weakly convergent subnet $(S_{\gamma_t})_{t \in (T,\mathcal{R})}$ of $(S_{\gamma})_{\gamma}$. Let \bar{x} be its limit. Then \bar{x} is a common fixed point for S. In fact, let $s \in S$ fixed. We choose an index γ_s such that $s \in S_{\gamma_s}$ and $t_s \in T$ with the property :

$$t_s \mathcal{R} t \Rightarrow S_{\gamma_s} \subset S_{\gamma_t}.$$

Then if $t \in T$ and $t_s \mathcal{R} t$, we have $s \cdot x_{\gamma_t} = x_{\gamma_t}$. Therefore by passing to the limit with the continuity it follows that $s \cdot \bar{x} = \bar{x}$. Hence $\bar{x} \in F(S)$. \Box

Corollary 2.3.15. Let \mathcal{F} be a commuting family of weakly continuous non-expansive mappings on a non-void weakly compact convex subset K of a Banach space E. Then there is a common fixed point for \mathcal{F} in K.

Proof. Let $S := \langle \mathcal{F} \rangle$ be the semigroup generated by \mathcal{F} . \mathcal{F} is amenable. If $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{f}; f \in S\}$ with $\hat{f} \equiv f$. Then we have $F(\mathcal{F}) = F(S) \neq \emptyset$. \Box

Remark 2.3.16. From [32, theorem 4], the above corollary remains true even if we replace \mathcal{F} by a left amenable discrete semigroup of weakly continuous non-expansive mappings.

We know already that left amenable semigroups possess the fixed point property (F_{wk}) . The next result shows that if we consider the discrete case, then (F_{wk}) is extendable to a more general class of semigroups. We need before to recall some well-known facts and fix some notations. Given a semigroup S, we define a new semigroup S_e obtained by adjoining a new element e to it and extend its product by letting s.e := s =: e.sfor all $s \in S$. This new structure is called an *unitization* of S; and S is said to be a *unital* semigroup if it has an identity element. It is known that S is left amenable if and only if S_e is, this fact follows from the proof [45, lemma 6.3] if we replace AP(S) by $\ell^{\infty}(S)$ throughout. Let $(S_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in J}$ be a family of unital semigroups with respective identities e_{α} . Their *direct product* $S := \prod_{\alpha} S_{\alpha}$ is a unital semigroup with identity $e = (e_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$ and operation defined coordinatewise, i.e., given $s, t \in S$, their product is defined by $s.t := (s_{\alpha}.t_{\alpha})_{\alpha}$. Next we endow S with the product topology of the discrete topologies and put

 $\varsigma := \{ \sigma \subset J ; \sigma \text{ is non-void and finite} \}$

Then for all $\sigma \in \varsigma$, define a sub-semigroup $S_{\sigma} := \prod_{\gamma \in \sigma} S_{\gamma}^*$ of S, with :

$$S_{\gamma}^{*} := \begin{cases} S_{\gamma}, & \text{if } \gamma \in \sigma \\ \\ \{e_{\gamma}\}, & \text{if } \gamma \notin \sigma \end{cases}$$

Theorem 2.3.17. Let $S = \prod_{\alpha} S_{\alpha}$ be a direct product. If each S_{α} is left amenable, then S possesses the following fixed point property : (F'_{wk}) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a jointly weakly continuous nonexpansive representation of S on a non-empty weakly compact convex subset K of Banach space E then, there is a common fixed point for S.

Lemma 2.3.18. For all $\sigma \in \varsigma$, the sub-semigroup S_{σ} is left amenable.

Proof. We shall proceed by induction on the cardinality $|\sigma|$ of σ .

- If $|\sigma| = 1$ then nothing to prove since each S_{α} is left amenable.
- If $|\sigma| = 2$, let $\sigma := \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$. Then $S_{\sigma} \cong S^*_{\alpha_1} \times S^*_{\alpha_2}$ and we know that

 $S_{\alpha_1}^* \times S_{\alpha_2}^*$ is left amenable, see [39, proposition 3.4]. Therefore, S_{σ} as an homomorphic image of $S_{\alpha_1}^* \times S_{\alpha_2}^*$, is also left amenable (cf. [14]).

• Assume that the statement holds for $|\sigma| = n$. Let $\sigma := \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{n+1}\}$ be in ς . $S_{\sigma} \cong S_{\tilde{\sigma}} \times S_{\alpha_{n+1}}$, with $\tilde{\sigma} := \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\}$ through the isomorphism $s = (s_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \mapsto (\pi_{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n}(s), s_{\alpha_{n+1}}) : S_{\sigma} \to S_{\tilde{\sigma}} \times S_{\alpha_{n+1}}^*$, where $\pi_{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n}$ is the projection of S onto $S_{\tilde{\sigma}}$. Then from the induction and the case $|\sigma| = 2$, it follows that $S_{\tilde{\sigma}} \times S_{\alpha_{n+1}}^*$ is left amenable; and therefore S_{σ} . Therefore the statement holds also for $|\sigma| = n + 1$. Hence for all $\sigma \in \varsigma$, which completes the proof. \Box

We are now ready to prove the theorem.

Proof. For $\alpha \in \varsigma$ fixed, since S_{σ} is left amenable by the previous lemma, then theorem 2.3.11 ensures the existence of a common fixed point x_{σ} in K for the sub-representation $\mathfrak{S}_{\sigma} := \{\hat{s} ; s \in S_{\sigma}\}$; i.e., $s.x_{\sigma} = x_{\sigma}$ for all $s \in S_{\sigma}$. Now we define a pre-order on ς upwards by inclusion, or more precisely,

$$\forall \sigma, \sigma^{'} \in \varsigma, \ \sigma \leq \sigma^{'} \Leftrightarrow \sigma \subset \sigma^{'}.$$

Then the family $(x_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \varsigma}$ becomes a net and from the weak compactness on K, it follows that it has a convergent subnet $(x_{\sigma_t})_{t \in (T,\mathcal{R})}$. Then we define $\bar{x} := \lim_t x_{\sigma_t} \in K$. Then we show next that \bar{x} is the element of Kwe are looking for. For that, let $s = (s_{\alpha})_{\alpha} \in S$ fixed. For every $t \in T$, we define an element s_t of S by letting :

$$s_{t,\alpha} := \begin{cases} s_{\alpha}, & \text{if } \alpha \in \sigma_t \\ \{e_{\alpha}\}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then the net $(s_t)_{t\in T}$ converges to s. In fact, let $U = \prod_{\alpha \in J} U_{\alpha}$ be an elementary open neighborhood of s. From the definition of the product topology, their is $\sigma_s \in \varsigma$ such that $U_{\alpha} \equiv S_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \in J \setminus \sigma_s$. Now we pick $t_s \in T$ with the property : $t_s \mathcal{R}t$ implies $\sigma_s \leq \sigma_t$ (note that a such index does exist because $(x_{\sigma_t})_t$ is a subnet of $(x_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$). Then it follows that for all $t \in T$, $t_s \mathcal{R}t \Rightarrow s_t \in U$; which proves our assertion, $s = \lim_t s_t$. On the other hand given $t \in T$, we have :

$$s_t \in S_{\sigma_t}$$
 and $s_t \cdot x_{\sigma_t} = x_{\sigma_t}$ (1).

So from relation (1) and the joint continuity of the representation of Swe obtain : $s.\bar{x} = \lim_t s_t.x_{\sigma_t} = \lim_t x_{\sigma_t} = \bar{x}$. Hence, $s.\bar{x} = \bar{x}, \forall s \in S$. \Box

Remark 2.3.19. Note that a direct product of a family of amenable semigroups need not be amenable in general; even for groups, cf. [14].

Remark 2.3.20. Fixed point property (F'_{wk}) is a generalization of (F_{wk}) (discrete case); because on the one hand, a discrete semigroup S is left amenable if and only if its unitization S_e is (cf. [45]), and on the other hand, any representation $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ of S on a compact space K can be extended to a representation $\mathfrak{S}_e = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S_e\}$ of S_e by letting $\hat{e} := id_K$ (the identity map of K).

¹Some results of this chapter are contained in a paper accepted for publication in the Journal of Fixed Point Theory and Applications, see [57].

CHAPTER 3

Semi-topological semigroups and non-linear common fixed point properties on weak^{*} compact convex sets

In this chapter, we shall be interested on non-expansive representations of semi-topological semigroups. Our attention is mainly concerned with the study of problem 3, i.e., whether or not left amenable semitopological semigroups possess the fixed point property (F^*) .

We prove that, with a compactness condition of some orbits with respect to a suitable locally convex topology on the dual, then a weak version of (F^*) holds respectively for : left amenable, σ -left amenable, sequentially left amenable, and all strongly left reversible semi-topological semigroups. Whereas, *n*-ELA semi-topological semigroups possess the fixed point property (F^*) , and discrete *n*-ELA semigroups have a fixed point property much stronger than (F^*) . We show that the classes of semi-topological semigroups mentioned above possess (F_{wk}) and that property (F_{ns}) is extendable to locally convex spaces. Some results related to [47, theorem 3] and [49, theorem 4] are also established.

3.1 Semi-topological semigroups and weak* fixed point properties in dual spaces

Given a Banach space E, let $B_{E^{**}}$ denote the unit closed ball of the second dual E^{**} ; and let $\operatorname{Ext}(B_{E^{**}})$ be the set of all extreme points of $B_{E^{**}}$ (which is of course non-void by virtue of the Krein-Milman theorem). Consider on the dual the locally convex topology τ defined by the family of semi-norms $Q := \{p_e ; e \in \operatorname{Ext}(B_{E^{**}})\}$ where, $p_e(f) = |e(f)|$. Then using the Krein-Milman theorem, it is easy to see that τ is separated. On the other hand, by construction $\tau \subset \sigma(E^*, E^{**})$ on E^* . If E^{**} is uniformly convex or more generally, if E is reflexive then τ is coarser than the weak* topology.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If S is σ -LA, then it possesses the following non-linear fixed point property : (F_{τ}^*) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a weak* jointly continuous nonexpansive representation on a non-empty weak* compact convex subset K of the dual E^* of a Banach space E, such that for all non-void weak* closed and S-invariant set $B \subset K$ with the property s.B = B for all $s \in S$, there is $x \in B$ whose orbit \mathcal{O}_x is relatively countably τ -compact, then there is in K a common fixed point for S.

In order to prove this result, the following lemmas are essential :

Lemma 3.1.2. Let S^* be a separable sub-semigroup of S. If K' is a non-empty weak^{*} compact and S^* -invariant subset of K, then there is non-void weak^{*} compact S^* -invariant subset Ω^* of K' which is minimal (for having all these properties) such that $s \cdot \Omega^* = \Omega^*$ for all $s \in S^*$.

Proof. It follows by combining lemma 2.3.5 and lemma 2.3.13, by just taking $\tau := wk^*$ (i.e., $\sigma(E^*, E)$) and $\Phi = LUC(S)$. \Box

Lemma 3.1.3. Let Ω^* be as in the previous lemma. Then the following facts hold :

- 1. For all $x \in \Omega^*$, the orbit \mathcal{O}_x of x, is weak^{*} dense in Ω^* ;
- 2. Ω^* is $\sigma(E^*, E^{**})$ -compact.

For proving this lemma the following characterization is needed.

Lemma 3.1.4. Let *B* be a Banach space and *C* be a bounded subset of *B*. *C* is relatively weakly compact if and only if, for all sequence $(x_n)_n$ in *C* there is a weakly convergent sequence $(y_n)_n \in E$ such that $y_n \in co(x_i; i \ge n)$ for all *n*.

Proof of Lemma 3.1.3. For part 1, clearly orbits are S-invariant; and since for all s in S, the mapping $x \mapsto s.x$ is weak*-weak* continuous (due to the continuity of the action) then weak* closures of orbits are also S-invariant. Hence, by minimality it follows that part 1 holds. For part 2, from lemma 3.1.2, we know that Ω^* is non-void with $s.\Omega^* = \Omega^*$ for all $s \in S$. Let us fix $x \in \Omega^*$ with a relatively τ -compact orbit; and let $(z_n)_n$ be a sequence in \mathcal{O}_x . Since the orbit \mathcal{O}_x is bounded (as a subset of K), then a fortiori so is $(z_n)_n$. Therefore by [55, corollary 0.2], there is a subsequence $(z_{n_k})_k$ of $(z_n)_n$ such that :

$$\bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \overline{co}^{\tau}(z_{n_i}; i \ge k) \subset \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{co}(z_i; i \ge n).$$

Define $F_n := \overline{\{z_{n_i} ; i \ge n\}}^{\tau}$ for all n. Then $\{F_n ; n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is a decreasing sequence of τ -closed non-empty subsets of the countably compact space $\overline{\mathcal{O}_x}^{\tau}$. Therefore, $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n \neq \emptyset$; and this latter property allows us to be able to find a point $\xi \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{co}(z_i ; i \ge n)$ and therefore, a sequence $(\xi_n)_n \in E^*$ such that $\xi_n \in co(z_i ; i \ge n)$ for all n, and $\|\xi_n - \xi\| \to 0$. Then by applying the lemma 3.1.4 it follows that $\overline{\mathcal{O}_x}^{wk}$ is weakly compact; and a fortiori closed in the weak* topology. Hence, together with the first part, it follows that $\Omega^* = \overline{\mathcal{O}_x}^{wk}$ is $\sigma(E^*, E^{**})$ compact. \Box

Lemma 3.1.5. Ω^* is compact in the norm topology.

Proof. Since Ω^* is weakly compact, see lemma 3.1.3, then weak and weak* topologies coincide on Ω^* . Therefore it follows that the sub-representation $\mathfrak{S}^* := \{\hat{s} ; s \in S^*\}$ is jointly weakly continuous. Hence, the separability of S^* together with a similar argument as in the proof of lemma 2.3.13 yields the desired result. \Box

Now we are ready to proceed to the proof of theorem 3.1.1.

Proof. Let $S = \bigcup_{\gamma \in J} S_{\gamma}^*$ such that each space $\text{LUC}(S_{\gamma}^*)$ has a LIM. If we fix $\gamma \in J$, let K_{γ} be a minimal non-empty weak* compact convex and S_{γ}^* -invariant subset of K. From lemma 3.1.2, there is $\Omega_{\gamma}^* \subset K_{\gamma}$ norm compact subset such that $s.\Omega_{\gamma}^* = \Omega_{\gamma}^*$ for all $s \in S_{\gamma}^*$. Then $\mathfrak{S}_{\gamma}^* := \{\hat{s}; s \in S_{\gamma}^*\}$ being a jointly weakly continuous representation, a similar argument as in Step 1 in the proof of theorem 2.3.12 shows that Ω_{γ}^* must be a single point $\{x_{\gamma}\}$, which is a common fixed point for S_{γ}^* . If we consider the collection $\{x_{\gamma}; \gamma \in J\}$ and pre-order the index set J by letting $\gamma \leq \gamma'$ if and only if, $S_{\gamma}^* \subset S_{\gamma'}^*$, then an argument similar to that used in Step 2 in the proof of theorem 2.3.12 yields the existence of a common fixed point for S. \Box

From the proof of the previous theorem, we deduce the following:

Corollary 3.1.6. Let S be a semigroup satisfying the conditions of theorem 3.1.1. Then it has the following fixed point property : (F_{wk}^*) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a weak^{*} jointly continuous nonexpansive representation on a non-empty weak^{*} compact convex subset K of the dual E^* of a Banach space E such that for all non-void weak^{*} closed S-invariant subset B of K with s.B = B for all $s \in S$, we can find $x \in B$ whose orbit \mathcal{O}_x is relatively weakly compact then, there is in K a common fixed point for S. **Proof.** Indeed, $\tau \subset \sigma(E^*, E^{**})$. \Box

Theorem 3.1.7. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If S is left reversible as a discrete semigroup, or separable and left reversible, then it possesses the fixed point property (F_{τ}^*) .

Proof. From [45, corollary 3.7], given a non-void, S-invariant, weak^{*} compact and convex subset K^* of K, there is a non-empty weak^{*} closed set $\Omega^* \subset K^*$ such that $s.\Omega^* = \Omega^*$ for all $s \in S$. If S is separable, then by lemma 3.1.5 it follows that Ω^* is norm compact. Therefore, a similar argument as in the proof of the previous theorem shows that the assertion is true. If S is discrete and left reversible, then it can be written as a direct union of countable left reversible sub-semigroups, cf. [32, lemma 1], then in this case if $S = \bigcup_{\gamma} S_{\gamma}$ where each S_{γ} is left reversible and countable (a fortiori, separable), the forgoing shows that each S_{γ} possesses a common fixed point in K. Hence, an argument as in Step 2 in the proof of theorem 2.3.12 yields the desired result. \Box

Remark 3.1.8. The fixed point theorem 3.1.7 shows that for separable left reversible semi-topological semigroups and (discrete) left reversible semigroups, Lim's result, cf. [47, theorem 3], in Banach spaces is extendable to weak* compact convex sets, without requiring a normal structure condition if the representation is jointly continuous in the weak* topology.

3.2 Fixed point properties of *n*-ELA semigroups of non-linear mappings

Let K be a non-empty convex subset of a vector space. A mapping $f: K \to K$ is said to be *affine* if :

f(t.x + (1-t).y) = tf(x) + (1-t)f(y), for all $x, y \in K$ and $t \in [0,1]$.

 \mathfrak{S} is said to be an *affine representation*, if each mapping in \mathfrak{S} is affine.

Theorem 3.2.1. If S is a n-ELA discrete semigroup, then it possesses the following fixed point property :

 (F_{affine}) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a $C(K)^+$ -continuous affine representation of S on a non-empty weakly compact convex subset Kof a Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space (E, Q), then Spossesses a common fixed point in K.

Proof. Let $m \in co(\beta S)$ be a LIM. Then $m = \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_j m_j$. Pick $x_o \in K$ and consider as in the proof of lemma 2.3.5

$$\Theta_{x_o} : \ C(K) \quad \to \quad \mathbb{R}$$

$$f \quad \mapsto \quad m(\theta^f_{x_o})$$

From the proof of lemma 2.3.5, $\Theta_{x_o}(f) = \int_K f \, d\mu$ for some regular Borel measure on K and $\omega_{wk} := \text{support}(\mu)$ satisfies :

$$\omega_{wk} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{wk}}^{wk} \text{ for all } s \in S \quad (1)$$

if we let $\tau = wk$. Then ω_{wk} is necessarily finite; indeed, from the definition of the support, ω_{wk} is characterized by :

$$x \in \omega_{wk} \Leftrightarrow \forall V \in \mathscr{V}_{wk}(x), \ \mu(V \cap \omega_{wk}) > 0.$$

Where $\mathscr{V}_{wk}(x)$ denotes the collection of all neighborhoods of x in E. On the other hand, for all $j, f \mapsto m_j(\theta^f_{x_o}) : C(K) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a nonzero multiplicative linear functional on C(K); therefore $m_j(\theta^f_{x_o}) = f(x_j)$ for some unique $x_j \in K$. If $x \notin \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}$, then by Urysohn's lemma, there is $f \in C(K)$ such that $f \ge 0, f(x)=1$ and $f(x_j) = 0$ for all j. Then $V := \{f > 0\}$ is a neighborhood of x and we have :

$$\mu(V \cap \omega_{wk}) \leq \int_{V} f d\mu \leq \int_{K} f d\mu = m(\theta_{x_{o}}^{f})$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{j} m_{j}(\theta_{x_{o}}^{f}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} t_{j} f(x_{j})$$
$$= 0$$

It follows that $\mu(V \cap \omega_{wk}) = 0$ which shows that x does not belong to ω_{wk} . Hence, $\omega_{wk} \subset \{x_1, \cdots, x_n\}$. Thus, together with (1), we get

$$|\omega_{wk}| \le |\overline{s.\omega_{wk}}^{wk}| \le |\omega_{wk}| \Rightarrow s.\omega_{wk} = \omega_{wk}, \text{ for all } s \in S \quad (2).$$

Let us define $\hat{x} := \frac{1}{|\omega_{wk}|} \sum_{x \in \omega_{wk}} x$. Then using (2) and the affineness of \mathfrak{S} , we get :

$$s.\hat{x} = \frac{1}{|\omega_{wk}|} \sum_{x \in \omega_{wk}} s.x = \frac{1}{|\omega_{wk}|} \sum_{x \in s.\omega_{wk}} x = \hat{x}$$

for all $s \in S$. Hence, \hat{x} is a common fixed point for S. \Box

Next, we establish a non-linear version of theorem 3.2.1.

Theorem 3.2.2. If S is an n-ELA discrete semigroup, then it possesses the following fixed point property :

 (F_s^*) : Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a $C(K)^+$ -continuous non-expansive representation of S on a non-empty weak^{*} compact convex subset K of the dual E^* of a Banach space E, then S possesses a common fixed point in K.

Proof. Clearly \mathfrak{S} defines an A-representation of $S, \ell^{\infty}(S)$ on each S-invariant weak* compact subset of K. Fix a minimal non-empty S-invariant weak* compact convex subset K^* of K. In lemma 2.3.5 if we let $\tau = \text{wk*}$, then using the *n*-ELA property (see the previous proof), there is a non-void finite set $\omega_{wk*} \subset K^*$ such that $s.\omega_{wk*} = \omega_{wk*}$ for all $s \in S$. Since $co(\omega_{wk*})$ possesses asymptotic normal structure (since norm compact), the conclusion follows using an argument as in the proof of theorem 2.3.12. \Box

Corollary 3.2.3. $(F_s^*) \Rightarrow (F^*)$, i.e., if a semi-topological semigroup possesses the fixed point property (F_s^*) , then a fortiori it does for (F^*) . Therefore, *n*-ELA semi-topological semigroups do possess (F^*) .

However, for n-extremely left amenable semi-topological semigroups we have the following result :

Theorem 3.2.4. If S is an *n*-ELA semi-topological semigroup, then it possesses the fixed point property (F^*) .

Proof. From lemma 2.3.12, \mathfrak{S} defines an A-representation of S,LUC(S) on K. Therefore, if we fix a minimal non-empty weak* compact convex and S-invariant set $K^* \subset K$, it follows from lemma 2.3.5 together with the fact that S is n-ELA, the existence of a non-empty finite subset ω_{wk*} of K^* such that $s.\omega_{wk*} = \omega_{wk*}$ for all $s \in S$. Let $\omega_{wk*} = {\omega_1, \dots, \omega_p}$ for some $p \in [1, n]$, and consider the Chebyshev center of ω_{wk*} in K^*

$$W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk^*}) := \{ x \in K^* ; \max_i \| x - \omega_i \| = \inf_{y \in K^*} \max_i \| y - \omega_i \| \}.$$

Due to the weak^{*} compactness and convexity of K^* , $W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk^*})$ is a non-empty weak^{*} compact and convex set. On the other hand, a similar argument as in the proof of theorem 2.2.1 together with the weak^{*} lower semi-continuity of the dual norm yield

$$s.W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk^*}) \subset W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk^*})$$
 for all $s \in S$.

Therefore, by minimality it follows that $W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk*}) = K^*$. Now assume that ω_{wk*} has at least two elements. By [17, lemma 1], there is x^* in $co(\omega_{wk*})$ such that $\max_{1 \le i \le p} ||x^* - \omega_i|| < \max_{i \ne j} ||\omega_i - \omega_j||$ (1). Let $i \ne j \in \{1, \cdots, p\}$. Since $\omega_i \in W_{K^*}(\omega_{wk*})$, then we have

$$\max_k \|\omega_i - \omega_k\| = \inf_{y \in K^*} \max_k \|y - \omega_k\|.$$

It follows using (1)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\omega_i - \omega_j\| &\leq \max_k \|\omega_i - \omega_k\| \\ &= \inf_{y \in K^*} \max_k \|y - \omega_k\| \\ &\leq \max_k \|x^* - \omega_k\| \\ &< \max_{p \neq q} \|\omega_p - \omega_q\| \end{aligned}$$

Thus, it follows that $\|\omega_i - \omega_j\| < \max_{p \neq q} \|\omega_p - \omega_q\|$ for all $i \neq j$, which is not possible. Hence ω_{wk*} must be a singleton. \Box

3.3 A weak* fixed point property in conjugate Banach spaces via ℓ^1

In [49], Lim proved that any decreasing net of non-void bounded subsets of ℓ^1 (considered as the dual space of c_0) has a non-empty norm compact convex asymptotic center with respect to any weak* closed convex set containing them. Using this result, we establish a non-linear fixed point theorem for semi-topological semigroups.

Theorem 3.3.1. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If LUC(S) has a LIM, then S has the following fixed point property :

 (F_{isom}^*) : Whenever $S \times K \to K$ is a jointly weak* continuous nonexpansive action of S on a non-empty weak* compact convex subset Kof a dual Banach space E^* such that there is a weak* closed isometry from K into ℓ^1 , then there is in K a common fixed point for S. **Remark 3.3.2.** In the above theorem, we consider ℓ^1 as the dual of c_0 and point out that the isometry in the above theorem need not be linear, but only closed in the weak* topology (i.e., the direct image of a weak* closed subset of K is weak* closed in ℓ^1) or weak*-weak* continuous.

Proof. Consider a non-void weak^{*} compact subset ω_{wk*} of K with the property :

$$s.\omega_{wk*} = \omega_{wk*}$$
 for all $s \in S$. (*).

Let $\phi : K \to \ell^1$ be the isometry whose existence is guaranteed by assumption. Then by [49], the set

$$C := \{ x \in \phi(K) ; \sup_{y \in \phi(\omega_{wk*})} \|x - y\| = r \}$$

where $r := \inf_{y \in \phi(K)} \sup_{z \in \phi(\omega_{wk*})} ||y-z||$, is a non-void and norm compact set. Therefore its preimage $\phi^{-1}(C)$ is a non-empty norm compact subset of E^* . Now define analogously as C the set

$$\hat{K} := \{ x \in K ; \sup_{y \in \omega_{wk*}} \|x - y\| = \rho \}.$$

where $\rho := \inf_{y \in K} \sup_{z \in \omega_{wk*}} ||y - z||$. The set \hat{K} is non-void because one the hand, it can be written as

$$\bigcap_{j} \{ x \in K ; \sup_{y \in \omega_{wk*}} \|x - y\| \le \rho + \frac{1}{j} \}$$

and on the other hand, each set in the intersection is non-empty and weak^{*} closed due to the weak^{*} lower-semi-continuity of the dual norm on E^* . Hence, the weak^{*} compactness of K forces \hat{K} to be non-void. Next we show that \hat{K} is norm compact. For that, it is enough to prove that it is a subset of $\phi^{-1}(C)$. Fortunately, it does. In fact, given $x \in \hat{K}$ we have $\phi(x) \in \phi(K)$ and

$$\sup_{y \in \phi(\omega_{wk*})} \|\phi(x) - y\| = \sup_{y \in \omega_{wk*}} \|\phi(x) - \phi(y)\|$$
$$= \sup_{y \in \omega_{wk*}} \|x - y\| = \rho$$
$$= \inf_{y \in K} \sup_{z \in \omega_{wk*}} \|y - z\|$$
$$= \inf_{y \in K} \sup_{z \in \omega_{wk*}} \|\phi(y) - \phi(z)\|$$
$$= \inf_{y \in \phi(K)} \sup_{z \in \phi(\omega_{wk*})} \|y - z\| = r$$

Therefore the inclusions holds and it follows that \hat{K} is a non-empty norm compact convex subset of K. Moreover, a similar argument as in the proof a theorem 2.3.3 shows that \hat{K} is also S-invariant. The restriction $S \times \hat{K} \to \hat{K}$ of the S-action on K becomes then a jointly norm continuous non-expansive action (since weak* and norm topologies agree). Using a Zorn's lemma argument if necessary, we may assume that \hat{K} is minimal (i.e., there is no proper subset of \hat{K} with the same properties). Then \hat{K} must be a singleton because otherwise, being norm compact and convex, it has normal structure (see [17]) and therefore leads to a contradiction. \Box When S is left reversible as a semi-topological semigroup, then (see [31] or [47]) S becomes a directed set if we let :

$$a \leq b$$
 iff $\{b\} \cup \overline{b.S} \subset \{a\} \cup \overline{a.S}$

Then if fix $x \in K$ (i.e., whenever S defines an action as in theorem 3.3.1) we define $\Omega_s := \overline{s.S.x}$ for all $s \in S$, ten we obtain a decreasing net of subsets of K. Hence, it follows :

Corollary 3.3.3. All left reversible semi-topological semigroups possess the fixed point property (F_{isom}^*) .

3.4 Some topological extensions

Given a semi-topological semigroup S, let M(S) denote the collection of all means on LUC(S) and let βS denote the subset of M(S) of all multiplicative means on LUC(S) (i.e., the spectrum of LUC(S)). Motivated by theorem 2.1.1, we introduce the following subset of M(S):

$$\overline{co}^{seq}(\beta S) := \{ m \in \mathcal{M}(S) ; m = wk^* - \lim_n m_n, m_n \in co(\beta S) \}$$

We shall say that S is sequentially left amenable, or "seq-LA" for short, if the Banach algebra LUC(S) possesses a left invariant mean in $\overline{co}^{seq}(\beta S)$. **Example 3.4.1.** By virtue of theorem 2.1.1, the class of all sequentially left amenable semigroups includes all countable left amenable discrete semigroups (e.g., \mathbb{Z}); it includes also the collection of all compact metrizable left amenable semi-topological semigroups (e.g., the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1).

With this definition, theorem 3.1.1 is extendable as follows :

Theorem 3.4.2. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If S is σ -LA or *seq*-LA, then it possesses the fixed point property (F_{τ}^*) .

Proof. Each S-invariant, non-void weak* compact subset of K contains a non-empty weakly compact (using lemma 3.1.3) subset ω_{wk*} such that $s.\omega_{wk*} = \omega_{wk*}$, for all $s \in S$. Using the an argument as in the proof of theorem 3.2.1 together with the sequential left amenability property and lemma 2.3.5, ω_{wk*} can be chosen to be separable in the weak topology. Hence, we conclude by an argument as in the proof of theorem 3.1.1. \Box

Using the fixed point theorem 3.1.1, we derive the following dual version :

Theorem 3.4.4. Let S be a semi-topological semigroup. If S is either σ -LA or seq-LA, then it possesses the fixed point property (F_{wk}) .

Proof.

• Step 1 : We first assume that S is separable or seq-LA. We embed E in its second dual E^{**} through the canonical injection $j : E \to E^{**}$ which is an isomorphism from (E, wk) onto $(j(E), wk^*)$. Then $\hat{K} := j(K)$ is a non-void weak^{*} compact convex subset of E^{**} . We carry the S-action on K to \hat{K} by letting s * j(x) := j(s.x), for all $s \in S$ and $x \in K$. As readily checked, the action $S \times \hat{K} \to \hat{K}$ is jointly weak^{*} continuous and norm non-expansive. Let $\hat{\tau}$ be the locally convex topology on E^{**} induced by the extreme points of $B_{E^{***}}[0,1]$ (the unit closed ball of the dual of E^{**}). If $\hat{B} \subset \hat{K}$ is a non-void weak^{*} compact subset such that $s * \hat{B} = \hat{B}$ for all $s \in S$. Using a Zorn's lemma argument if necessary together with lemma 2.3.5 if S is left amenable, or [45, corollary 3.7] if S is left reversible, we may assume that \tilde{B} is minimal (in the sense that, if \tilde{B} is a non-void weak^{*} compact S-invariant set contained in \hat{B} , then $\tilde{B} = \hat{B}$). Then $B := j^{-1}(\hat{B})$ is a minimal non-empty weakly compact S-invariant and separable subset of K with the property that s.B = Bfor all $s \in S$. Therefore using lemma 2.3.14, it follows that B is norm compact and therefore its image \hat{B} too. Thus, for all $j(x) \in \hat{K}$, the orbit $\mathcal{O}_{j(x)}$ is relatively $\hat{\tau}$ -compact (since norm and $\hat{\tau}$ topologies agree on the norm closed orbit). Hence by theorem 1, there is $\hat{x} \in K$ such that $s * j(\hat{x}) = j(\hat{x})$ for all $s \in S$. Hence, \hat{x} is a common fixed point for S due to the injectivity of j.

• Step 2 : Now we assume that S is an arbitrary semi-topological semigroup with either one of the properties in the theorem. From Step 1, a similar argument as in the proof of theorem 3.1.1, shows that if we consider the action of S carried on E^{**} , then

$$F(S) := \{x \in K; s * j(x) = j(x) \text{ for all } s \in S\} \neq \emptyset.$$

Hence, any $x \in K$ with $j(x) \in F(S)$ is a common fixed point for S. \Box

Remark 3.4.5. Theorem 3.4.4 shows that beyond the class of σ -left amenable semi-topological semigroups, sequentially left amenable semitopological semigroups do have the fixed point property (F_{wk}) . Whether or not left reversible semi-topological semigroups possess the fixed point property (F_{wk}) , we have the following result in this direction:

We shall use the following concept introduced in [44]. A semi-topological semigroup S is *strongly left reversible*, if it can written as a direct union of countable left reversible sub-semigroups.

Example 3.4.6. The class of strongly left reversible semi-topological semigroups includes discrete left reversible semigroups [32, lemma 1], separable left reversible semi-topological semigroups, metrizable left reversible semi-topological semigroups [44, lemma 5.2].

Theorem 3.4.7. Strongly left reversible semi-topological semigroups possess the fixed point properties (F_{wk}) and (F_{τ}^*) .

Proof. Indeed, if $S = \bigcup_{\alpha} S_{\alpha}$, then using [45, corollary 3.7] and a similar argument as in the proof of theorem 3.1.1, yield $F(S_{\alpha}) \neq \emptyset$ for all α . We conclude using part 2 in the proof of theorem 2.3.11. \Box

Corollary 3.4.8. [32, theorem 4].

Proof. In fact, a discrete left reversible semigroup is strongly left reversible, cf. [32, lemma 1]. \Box

Remark 3.4.9. From theorem 3.4.6, one can say that in Banach spaces, normal structure condition is unnecessary if we consider jointly continuous non-expansive representations of separable semi-topological semigroups in the weak topology.

Finally, we establish an extension of (F_{ns}) (see theorem 2.3.3) to representations in Hausdorff locally convex spaces setting.

Remark 3.4.10. Even if locally convex spaces are not in general normable, using semi-norms, one can define a notion of non-expansive mapping which coincides with what we know in a normed space.

We fix a locally convex Hausdorff space E with family Q of semi-norms which induces its topology. Given a non-void set $K \subset E$, a mapping $T: K \to K$ is said to be Q-non-expansive or simply non-expansive, if it satisfies the following property : for all semi-norm $q \in Q$ and x, y in Kwe have :

$$q(T(x) - T(y)) \le q(x - y).$$

Example 3.4.11. (*Q*-non-expansive map). Let *S* be a semi-topological semigroup. Let AP(S) be the translation invariant subspace of $C_b(S)$ consisting of those functions whose left orbits are relatively compact in the norm topology; more precisely, a function *f* belongs to AP(S) if, $\{\ell_s f : s \in S\}$ has a compact closure in $C_b(S)$ in the supremum norm topology. Let $E := AP(S)^*$ and K := M(AP(S)) (the set of all means on AP(S)). Given *f* in AP(S), we define a semi-norm q_f on *E* by letting $q_f(m) = \sup_{s \in S} |m(\ell_s f)|$. Consider the locally convex topology on *E* induced by $Q = \{q_f : f \in AP(S)\}$. Then if we fix $s_o \in S$, the mapping

$$T_{s_o}: K \to K$$
$$m \mapsto \ell_{s_o}^* m$$

where, $\ell_{s_o}^* m(f) := m \circ \ell_{s_o}(f) = m(\ell_{s_o} f)$, is Q-non-expansive.

From now on, we will assume E to be Hausdorff in order to ensure (via the Hahn-Banach separation theorem) that the topological dual is "huge" enough to separate points. In fact, the topological dual of a locally convex space which is not separated may be trivial (cf. [13]).

Remark 3.4.12. When *E* is a Banach space, then *Q* reduces to one semi-norm given by $q = \|.\|$; and in this case, a *Q*-non-expansive mapping is just the usual notion of a non-expansive mapping in normed spaces.

Theorem 3.4.13. Let S be a countable semi-topological semigroup. If LMC(S) has a LIM, then S has fixed the following fixed point property: $(F_{ns,loc})$: Whenever $\mathfrak{S} = \{\hat{s} ; s \in S\}$ is a Q-non-expansive representation of S on a weakly compact convex subset K with normal structure in a Frechet space E, such that for all $x \in K$, the mapping $s \mapsto s.x : S \to K$ is continuous in the relative weak topology, then K contains a common fixed point for S.

Before the proof, let us point out that the notion of an asymptotic center we used so far, remains valid in locally convex spaces; see [47].

Proof of Theorem 3.4.13. Let K^{wk} be a minimal, non-empty, weakly compact, convex and S-invariant subset of K. By virtue of lemma 2.3.4, \mathfrak{S} defines an A-representation of S, LMC(S) on K^{wk} . If $\tau :=$ wk and $\tilde{\tau} = \tau_Q$, then from lemma 2.3.5, there is a non-empty subset $\omega_{wk} \subset K^{wk}$ such that $\omega_{wk} \subset \overline{s.\omega_{wk}}^{wk}$ for all $s \in S$ (1). We assert that ω_{wk} is a singleton. Indeed, otherwise there would be a semi-norm $q \in Q$ such that $\sup_{x,y\in\omega_{wk}}q(x-y) > 0$ (as E is Hausdorff). On the one hand, since normal structure and asymptotic normal structure are equivalent on K^{wk} , then the asymptotic center is properly contained in K^{wk} . Moreover, we know already that it is non-void, weakly compact and convex; and it is easy to see that it can be written as

$$\bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} K_j := \bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} \{ x \in K^{wk} ; \sup_{y \in \omega_{wk}} q(x-y) \le r(\omega_{wk}, K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j} \}.$$

Now we show that it is invariant under the semigroup S. It is enough to show that each K_j is S-invariant. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \in S$ fixed. Let $x \in K_j$ fixed. Given $y \in \omega_{wk}$, using (1), let $y = \lim_{\alpha} s.y_{\alpha}$ with $y_{\alpha} \in \omega_{wk}$. From the Q-non-expansiveness, the weak lower semi-continuity of the semi-norm q, we get the following inequalities :

$$q(s.x - y) \leq \liminf_{\alpha} q(s.x - s.y_{\alpha})$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\alpha} q(x - y_{\alpha})$$

$$\leq \sup_{z \in \omega_{wk}} q(x - z)$$

$$\leq r(\omega_{wk}, K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j}$$

Since y is arbitrarily, then it follows that

$$\sup_{z \in \omega_{wk}} q(s.x - z) \le r(\omega_{wk}, K^{wk}) + \frac{1}{j}$$

which shows that $s.x \in K_j$. Therefore, the asymptotic center is S-invariant. However, this is not possible from the minimality of K^{wk} . Hence, this forces K^{wk} to be a single point. \Box

Remark 3.4.14. $(F_{ns,loc}) \Rightarrow (F_{ns})$. This implication means that, if a semi-topological semigroup *S* possesses the fixed point property $(F_{ns,loc})$ then it does possess (F_{ns}) . **Remark 3.4.15.** The fact that discrete left amenable semigroups possess the fixed point property $(F_{ns,loc})$ follows from [49]; because for a discrete semigroup S, its left amenability implies its left reversibility and $\text{LMC}(S) = \ell^{\infty}(S)$. However, when S is semi-topological, the left amenability of LMC(S) does not imply the left reversibility of S, even if $C_b(S)$ has a left invariant mean, see [31] for details.

CHAPTER 4

A fixed point proof of the existence of a left Haar measure for amenable locally compact topological groups

Existence of a left Haar measure for locally compact groups has been proven first by A. Haar in 1933 for second countable locally compact groups, see [7]; later, in 1940, A. Weil, proved the existence and uniqueness (up to a multiplicative positive constant) for general locally compact groups. Since then, many methods have been developed for constructing a left Haar measure; e.g., by using compact sets, compactly supported functions, fixed point techniques. In the latter approach, an application of the Ryll-Nardzewski fixed point theorem ensures the existence of a left Haar measure for compact topological groups, see [36]. For the class of abelian groups, a beautiful proof was established by A. Izzo [34] in 1992, using the Markov-Kakutani fixed point theorem. The existence of a left Haar measure for amenable hypergroups satisfying a positivity property for translations was proved by Wilson by a fixed point theorem [60]. In this chapter, we are able to extend Izzo's proof to a wider class of locally compact groups that includes abelian and compact groups; the so-called amenable locally compact groups.

Definition 4.1. A topological group, is a group G together with a Hausdorff topology τ such that the mappings : $(g, h) \mapsto g.h : G \times G \to G$ and $h \mapsto h^{-1} : G \to G$ are both continuous. We say that G is a locally compact topological group (or simply a locally compact group) if there is a base for the neighborhoods of the identity consisting of compact sets.

Example 4.2. Any group considered as a discrete space, is a locally compact group; the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1 in the usual topology is a locally compact abelian group.

Remark 4.3. Since topological groups form a sub-class of the semitopological semigroups, one can talk about amenability. Except for a locally compact group G, its amenability is equivalent to that of $C_b(G)$. From now on, G is an amenable locally compact group. On the normed space $C_c(G)$ we define a topology τ as follows :

Given a net $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in J}$ of elements of $C_c(G)$ and $f \in C_c(G)$, we say that $f_{\gamma} \to f$ if there is a compact subset K of G, and $\gamma_o \in J$ such that :

- 1. $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset K$ and $\bigcup_{\gamma \geq \gamma_o} \operatorname{supp}(f_{\gamma}) \subset K$.
- 2. $\sup_{g \in K} |f_{\gamma}(g) f(g)| \to 0$. i.e., $f_{\gamma} \to f$ uniformly on K.

Note that this is a well-defined Hausdorff topology. Because, once we know the convergent nets, then closed sets are known, and therefore the topology of the space is completely determined. On the other hand, τ is Hausdorff since it is finer that the locally convex Hausdorff topology generated by the semi-norms $p_K(f) := \sup_{g \in K} |f(g)|$, where K runs over all the compact subsets of G.

As readily checked, $(C_c(G), \tau)$ is a topological vector space. We denote by $(C_c(G), \tau)^*$ its topological dual (which is non-trivial as it contains at least evaluation mappings on $C_c(G)$). On $(C_c(G), \tau)^*$ we shall use the weak* topology.

Lemma 4.4. (A. Izzo [34]) Let G be a topological group and N be a symmetric neighborhood of e. Then there is a subset S of G such that for all $g \in G$, $(g.N.N) \cap S \neq \emptyset$ and $|g.N \cap S| \leq 1$.

Lemma 4.5. Let us fix N be a relatively compact symmetric open neighborhood of e, and let K be the collection of all non-negative functionals $L \in (C_c(G), \tau)^*$ with the following properties :

1. $0 \leq L(f) \leq 1$ if $0 \leq f \leq 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset g.N$ for some $g \in G$.

2. $L(f) \ge 1$ if $f \ge 0$ and $f \equiv 1$ on g.N.N for some $g \in G$.

Then K is a non-void weak*-compact convex subset of the topological dual $(C_c(G), \tau)^*$. Before the proof, let us point out that if the non-emptiness of K is proved, then a functional in K is necessarily <u>nonzero</u>. Indeed, $\overline{N.N}$ is compact because $\overline{N.N} \subset \overline{N}.\overline{N}$ and the product $(g,h) \mapsto g.h$ is jointly continuous; by Urysohn's lemma, there is $f \in C_c(G)$ such that $f \equiv 1$ on $\overline{N.N}$ (a fortiori on N.N) and $0 \leq f \leq 1$; therefore, any element of K do not vanish at f by property 2. On the other hand, the convexity of K is immediate.

Proof. (lemma 4.5) We shall prove this lemma into two steps.

• Non-emptiness of K. Let S be as in lemma 4.4, and consider the map $L(f) := \sum_{s \in S} f(s)$. L is a well-defined bounded linear functional on $C_c(G)$. For the linearity, it is enough to show that L(f) is a scalar for all $f \in C_c(G)$. So let $f \in C_c(G)$ fixed; then $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n (g_i.N)$ for some g_i 's in G (because $\{g.N; g \in G\}$ is an open covering of $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ which is compact). On the other hand by lemma 1, we have $|(g_i N) \cap S| \leq 1$ for each *i*; so $|\operatorname{supp}(f) \cap S| \leq n$ since $\operatorname{supp}(f) \cap S \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (g_i \cdot N \cap S)$. Therefore, $\operatorname{supp}(f) \cap S = \{s_1, \cdots, s_q\}$ and $\operatorname{L}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^q f(s_i) \in \mathbb{R};$ moreover, from its definition, L is non-negative. Next, we shall prove its continuity. Let $f_{\gamma} \to f$ be a convergent net in C_cG). Let C be a fixed compact subset of G containing $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ and such that, for some $\gamma_o \in J, \ \bigcup_{\gamma \geq \gamma_o} \operatorname{supp}(f_{\gamma}) \subset C \text{ and } \operatorname{sup}_{g \in C} |f_{\gamma}(g) - f(g)| \to 0.$ By lemma 4.4, we have $C \cap S = \{s_1, \cdots, s_p\}$ for some $p \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore it follows $|\operatorname{L}(f_{\gamma}-f)| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{p} |f_{\gamma}(s_{j}) - f(s_{j})| \leq p. \sup_{C} |f_{\gamma}(x) - f(x)| \to 0. \text{ Hence},$ $L \in (C_c(G), \tau)^*$. Finally we shall show that L lies in K.

i. Verification of property 1. Let $f \in C_c(G)$ with $0 \leq f \leq 1$ and supp $(f) \subset g.N$ for some g. By lemma 4.4, $S \cap g.N$ is either empty or reduces to $\{s\}$ for some $s \in S$; so L(f) lies in [0,1].

ii. Verification of property 2. Let $f \in C_c(G)$ such that : $f \ge 0$ and $f \equiv 1$ on g.N.N for some g. By lemma 1, $S \cap g.N.N \ne \emptyset$. Let us pick $s \in S \cap g.N.N$. Then $L(f) \ge f(s) = 1$. Therefore $L(f) \ge 1$. Hence L belongs to K.

• Proof of the weak^{*} compactness of K. Let $f \in C_c(g)$, $f \neq 0$. Then $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n (g_i.N)$ for some $g'_i s \in G$. Using a partition of unity subordinated to the $g_i.N's$, there are some $f'_i s \in C_c(G)$ such that :

- a. $\operatorname{supp}(f_i) \subset g_i.N$, for $i = 1, \cdots, n$;
- b. $0 \le f_i \le 1$, for all $i = 1, \dots, n$;
- c. and the sum $\sum_{j} f_i \equiv 1$ on $\operatorname{supp}(f)$.

Since $f = f^+ - f^-$, $|f| = f^+ + f^-$ and the fact that $0 \leq \frac{|f|}{\|f\|} \leq 1$, where the mappings f^+ and f^- are defined by : $f^+ := \max(f, 0)$ and $f^- := \min(-f, 0)$; then $0 \leq \frac{f^+}{\|f\|} \leq 1$ and $0 \leq \frac{f^-}{\|f\|} \leq 1$. On the other hand, we have $f^+ = \sum_j f^+ f_i$ with $\operatorname{supp}(f^+ f_i)$ subset of $g_i N$ for all *i*. The same equality holds with f^- instead of f^+ . Thus, for all $L \in K$,

$$\{ L(f^+), L(f^-) \} \subset [0, n, ||f||] \Rightarrow |L(f)| \le n, ||f||$$
 (1).

Therefore we conclude that $\delta_f := \sup_{L \in K} |L(f)| < \infty$, for all f in $C_c(G)$. On the other hand, we introduce the following Hausdorff space :

$$\mathcal{K} := \prod_{f \in C_c(G)} [-\delta_f, \delta_f]$$

which is compact in the product topology by Tychonoff's theorem. Now we define a mapping

$$\Psi: K \to \mathcal{K}, \ \varphi \mapsto \Psi(\varphi) := (\varphi(f))_{f \in C_c(G)}.$$

Given f in $C_c(G)$, let $\pi_f : \mathcal{K} \to \mathbb{R}$ denote the f^{th} projection. Then $\pi_f \circ \Psi$ (f^{th} component of Ψ) is continuous; because, if $\varphi_{\alpha} \to \varphi$ weakly^{*}, then $\pi_f \circ \psi(\varphi_\alpha) = \varphi_\alpha(f) \to \varphi(f) = \pi_f \circ \Psi(\varphi)$; hence the continuity of Ψ follows. On the other hand, Ψ is one-to-one by construction; which implies that $\Psi : \mathcal{K} \to \Psi(\mathcal{K})$ is a bijective continuous map. The continuity of its inverse Ψ^{-1} : $\Psi(K) \to \mathcal{K}$ is straightforward because, $\Psi(\varphi_{\alpha}) \to \Psi(\varphi)$ iff $\pi_f \circ \Psi(\varphi_{\alpha}) \to \pi_f \circ \Psi(\varphi)$ for all $f \in C_c(G)$; and this is equivalent to $\varphi_{\alpha} \to \varphi$ weak^{*}. Therefore, Ψ is a homeomorphism. Finally, it remains to prove that the range $\Psi(K)$ is closed in \mathcal{K} . Let $(\Psi(\varphi_{\alpha}))_{\alpha}$ be a net in $\Psi(K)$ converging to $(\varphi_f)_{f \in C_c(G)}$ in \mathcal{K} ; and put $\varphi(f) := \varphi_f$ for all $f \in C_c(G)$. Then φ is linear and $\varphi_\alpha \to \varphi$ weak^{*}; moreover, the fact that $\varphi_{\alpha} \to \varphi$ implies φ satisfies all the properties 1 and 2 of K and therefore, it remains to show that φ is continuous. For the continuity, let $f \in C_c(G)$ and $(f_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ be a net in $C_c(G)$ converging to f. Let C be the corresponding compact subset of G in the definition of convergence of nets in $C_c(G)$; and let N be a relatively compact and symmetric neighborhood of e. Then $C \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} g_i N$ for some $g'_i s \in G$ (by compactness of C). Now we fix $\gamma_o \in \Gamma$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset C$ and

$$\gamma \ge \gamma_o \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp}(f_\gamma) \subset C.$$

Remember that $\varphi_{\alpha} \to \varphi$ weakly^{*} on $C_c(G)$, and each φ_{α} lies in K. Thus we have for all α and γ fixed

$$|\varphi_{\alpha}(f_{\gamma} - f)| \leq \varphi_{\alpha}(|f_{\gamma} - f|) \leq n \cdot \sup_{g \in C} |f_{\gamma}(g) - f(g)|, \ \forall \ \gamma \geq \gamma_{o}$$

The first inequality holds because each φ_{α} is a positive linear functional; and the second one follows from relation (1). By passing to the limit in α , we obtain then :

$$|\varphi(f_{\gamma} - f)| \le \varphi(|f_{\gamma} - f|) \le n \sup_{g \in C} |f_{\gamma}(g) - f(g)|, \ \forall \ \gamma \ge \gamma_{o}$$

Therefore $\varphi(f_{\gamma}) \to \varphi(f)$; and this shows that $\varphi \in K$ and we have $\Psi(\varphi) = (\varphi_f)_{f \in C_c(G)}$. Hence, the limit $(\varphi_f)_{f \in C_c(G)}$ lies in the range $\Psi(\mathcal{K})$ which shows that the image of Ψ is a closed subset of the compact space \mathcal{K} . Hence, K is compact since homeomorphic to a compact space. \Box

Remark 4.6. By considering the algebraic dual of $C_c(G)$ with its weak* topology, lemma 4.5 was proved in [34].

For all $g \in G$, let us define $L_g : (C_c(G), \tau)^* \to (C_c(G), \tau)^*$ by the equation $L_g(\varphi)(f) := \varphi(\ell_g f)$ for all $g \in G$. As readily checked, each L_g is a well-defined weak*-weak* continuous mapping. Consider K the weak* compact convex set defined in lemma 4.5; then K is invariant under each L_g (i.e., $L_g(K) \subset K$ for all g); in fact, let $\varphi \in K$ and $h \in G$ fixed. For condition 1, let $f \in C_c(G)$ such that $f(G) \subset [0,1]$ and for some $g \in G$, $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset g.N$; then $\ell_h f \in C_c(G), \ell_h f(G) \in [0,1]$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\ell_h f) \subset h^{-1}g.N$; therefore $\operatorname{L}_h(\varphi)(f) = \varphi(\ell_h f) \in [0,1]$. For condition (2), let $f \in C_c(G)$ such that $f \geq 0$ and $f \equiv 1$ on g.N.N for some $g \in G$; then $\ell_h f \in C_c(G), \ell_h f \geq 0$ and $\ell_h f \equiv 1$ on $h^{-1}g.N.N$; thus, $\operatorname{L}_h(\varphi)(f) = \varphi(\ell_h f) \geq 1$. On the other hand, since non-negativity property is preserved by translations, it follows that $\operatorname{L}_h(\varphi) \geq 0$. Hence, $\operatorname{L}_h(\varphi) \in K$. Finally for the weak^{*} continuity, let $g \in G$ and $(\varphi_\gamma)_\gamma \subset K$ be a weak^{*} convergent net with limit φ , then for all $f \in C_c(G)$ we have:

$$|\mathcal{L}_h(\varphi_\gamma)(f) - \mathcal{L}_h(\varphi)(f)| = |\varphi_\gamma(\ell_g f) - \varphi(\ell_g f)| \to 0.$$

Therefore $L_h(\varphi_{\gamma}) \to L_h(\varphi)$ weakly* and the weak* continuity follows. Now let us fix $\varphi \in K$; for all $f \in C_c(G)$ let $L_{\varphi}^f : G \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $L_{\varphi}^f(g) = L_g(\varphi)(f) := \varphi(\ell_g f)$. Then one can define a mapping $\xi :$ $G \times K \to K$ by letting $\xi(g, \varphi) := g.\varphi$, with $g.\varphi(f) := L_{\varphi}^f(g)$. Then ξ is a well-defined action of G on K; indeed

$$\begin{aligned} \xi(gh,\varphi)(f) &= (gh).\varphi(f) = \varphi(\ell_{gh}f) \\ &= \varphi(\ell_h \circ \ell_g(f)) = \mathcal{L}_{\varphi}^{\ell_g f}(h) \\ &= h.\varphi(\ell_g f) = g.(h.\varphi)(f) \\ &= \xi(g,\xi(h,\varphi))(f) \end{aligned}$$

Next step, we show that L^f_{φ} lies in $C_b(G)$ for all f in $C_c(G)$ and $\varphi \in K$. Let us fix $f \in C_c(G)$ and $\varphi \in K$.

• Continuity of L^f_{φ} . If $g_{\gamma} \to g$ is a convergent net in G, by continuity of

 φ , it is enough to show that $\ell_{g_{\gamma}}f \to \ell_g f$ in $(C_c(G), \tau)$. Let N_o be a fix compact neighborhood of e and let γ_o such that $\gamma \ge \gamma_o \Rightarrow g_{\gamma}^{-1} \in g^{-1}.N_o$. Next, we define $K_f := g^{-1}.N_o.\mathrm{supp}(f)$ (note that K_f is a compact subset of G by the joint continuity of $(h, h') \mapsto h.h' : G \times \to G$). We have

$$[\bigcup_{\gamma \ge \gamma_o} \operatorname{supp}(\ell_{g_\gamma} f)] \cup \operatorname{supp}(\ell_g f) \subset K_f.$$

Therefore, $\sup_{h \in K_f} |\ell_{g_\gamma} f(h) - \ell_g f(h)| \le ||\ell_{g_\gamma} f - \ell_g f||$. On the other hand, as $C_c(G) \subset \text{LUC}(G)$ (cf. [23]), it follows that $||\ell_{g_\gamma} f - \ell_g f|| \to 0$; so a fortiori $\ell_{g_\gamma} f \to \ell_g f$ uniformly on K_f . Thus, $\ell_{g_\gamma} f \to \ell_g f$ in $(C_c(G), \tau)$.

• Boundedness. L_{φ}^{f} is bounded because $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{p} g_{i}.N_{o}$ for some $g_{i}'s$ in G; and together with relation (1) (see the proof of lemma 4.5) we get $\sup_{g \in G} |L_{\varphi}^{f}(g)| \leq p. ||f|| < \infty$. Hence, $L_{\varphi}^{f} \in C_{b}(G)$.

In summary, we have shown that $\xi : G \times K \to K, (g, \varphi) \mapsto g.\varphi$ induces a weak^{*} separately continuous representation of G on K such that for all $\varphi \in K$ and $f \in C_c(G)$ the mapping L_{φ}^f lies in $C_b(G)$.

Lemma 4.7. The representation $\mathfrak{S} = \{\xi(g, .) \ g \in G\}$ of G on Kpossesses a common fixed point in K. That is, there exists $\widetilde{\varphi} \in K$ such that $g.\widetilde{\varphi} = \widetilde{\varphi}$ for all $g \in G$ or equivalently, $\widetilde{\varphi}(\ell_g f) = \widetilde{\varphi}(f)$ for all $f \in C_c(G)$ and for all $g \in G$.

Proof. Let *m* be an invariant mean on $C_b(G)$ (*G* is amenable). Let $(m_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in J}$ be a net of finite means on $C_b(G)$ converging pointwise to *m*;

with $m_{\gamma} = \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} \delta_{g_i^{\gamma}}$; where $t_i^{\gamma} \in [0,1]$, $\sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} = 1$. Pick $\varphi \in K$ and define $\varphi_{\gamma} := \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\gamma}} t_i^{\gamma} L_{g_i^{\gamma}}(\varphi)$, for all $\gamma \in J$. Then we define a net $(\varphi_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in J}$ of elements of K due to its convexity. By compactness, (φ_{γ}) has a convergent subnet $(\varphi_{\gamma_t})_{t \in T}$. So let $\widetilde{\varphi} \in K$ be its weak*-limit. Given $f \in C_c(G)$ and $g \in G$, from a simple calculation, we get $\ell_g(L_{\widetilde{\varphi}}^f) = L_{\widetilde{\varphi}}^{\ell_g f}$. Therefore

$$g.\widetilde{\varphi}(f) = \lim_{t} \varphi_{\gamma_{t}}(\ell_{g}f) = \lim_{t} m_{\gamma_{t}}(\mathbf{L}_{\varphi}^{\ell_{g}f})$$
$$= m(\mathbf{L}_{\varphi}^{\ell_{g}f}) = m(\ell_{g}\mathbf{L}_{\varphi}^{f})$$
$$= m(\mathbf{L}_{\varphi}^{f}) = \lim_{t} m_{\gamma_{t}}(\mathbf{L}_{\varphi}^{f})$$
$$= \lim_{t} \varphi_{\gamma_{t}}(f) = \widetilde{\varphi}(f)$$

Hence, $\widetilde{\varphi} \in K$ and satisfies $g.\widetilde{\varphi} = \widetilde{\varphi}$ for all $g \in G$. \Box

Definition 4.8. A Haar measure on G is a non-negative nonzero Borel measure μ on the Borel sets of G with the following properties :

- 1. μ is left invariant, i.e., $\mu(g.E) = \mu(E)$, for all g and any Borel set E.
- 2. $\mu(K) < \infty$ for all compact set $K \subset G$.
- 3. μ is regular, i.e., both

inner regular : for all open set $O \subset G$,

$$\mu(O) = \sup\{\mu(K) ; K \subset O, K \text{ compact}\}.$$

outer regular : for all Borel set $E \subset G$,

$$\mu(E) = \inf\{\mu(O) ; O \text{ open and } E \subset O\}.$$

Example 4.9. On the additive group \mathbb{R}^n , a Haar measure is given by the Lebesgue measure; if G is any countable group, then a Haar measure is given by the counting measure.

Now we are ready to prove the existence of a left Haar measure for amenable locally compact groups.

Proof. Let $\tilde{\varphi} \in K$ be as in lemma 4.7. From the properties of K, we know that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is a nonnegative and nonzero linear functional on $C_c(G)$; so by the Riesz representation theorem, there is a unique regular nonzero radon measure μ on the Borel sets of G such that : $\tilde{\varphi}(f) = \int_G f d\mu$ for all $f \in C_c(G)$ and for all open set O in G, $\mu(O) = \sup\{\tilde{\varphi}(f); f \in C_c(G), \sup\{f\}\} \subset O\}$. To finish, we show into two steps that μ is left invariant.

• For open sets. Let O be open and $g \in G$. We fix $f \in C_c(G)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset g.O$. Then $\operatorname{supp}(\ell_g f) \subset O$ and $\widetilde{\varphi}(f) = \widetilde{\varphi}(\ell_g f) \leq \mu(O)$. Therefore it follows $\mu(g.O) \leq \mu(O)$ by taking the supremum over all such f. Thus, we have $\mu(hg.O) \leq \mu(g.O)$ for all $h \in G$ and this implies $\mu(O) \leq \mu(g.O)$. Hence $\mu(g.O) = \mu(O)$ for all open set O and $g \in G$.

• For Borel sets. Let E be a Borel set and $g \in G$. From the outer regularity, if O is an open set containing g.E then $\mu(E) \leq \mu(g^{-1}O) = \mu(O)$ (because $E \subset g^{-1}.O$ which is open). Thus, $\mu(E) \leq \mu(g.E)$ by taking the infimum over all such O. As before, by interchanging E with g.E and gwith g^{-1} , we get $\mu(g.E) \leq \mu(g^{-1}(g.E)) = \mu(E) \Rightarrow \mu(g.E) = \mu(E)$. \Box **Remark 4.10.** For the proof of the uniqueness of the Haar measure on *G* refer to [22]. We note that, the word "uniqueness" has to be understood in the following way : if there are two Haar measures μ and ν on *G* then, there is a multiplicative positive constant $\alpha \in (0, \infty)$ such that $\mu = \alpha . \nu$.

Remark 4.11. Our proof includes both families of topological groups namely, compact groups and commutative groups. In fact, it is wellknown that commutative semigroups are amenable [5], so a fortiori abelian groups; for a compact topological group G, it is known that $C_b(G) = AP(G)$ the Banach subspace of $C_b(G)$ of all almost periodic functions on G; and an application of the Ryll-Nardzewski fixed point theorem, see [11], ensures the existence of a invariant mean on AP(G)and so on $C_b(G)$.

Acknowledgment I would to think professor A. T. -M. Lau for letting me know about the existence of Izzo's paper on the functional analysis proof of the existence of a Haar measure for abelian groups. Also, I would like to point out that Daniel Glasscock's notes on Izzo's work were very helpful during the preparation of this proof.

CHAPTER 5

Remarks and Open Problems

In this last chapter, we make some remarks on our work and also raise some natural questions related to some results obtained in this thesis.

5.1 Remarks on chapter 2 and related problems

• Although uniformly convex spaces are strictly convex, the proof of theorem 2.2.1 does not require this geometric property; but only the fact that the characteristic of convexity of E is zero. Recall that the characteristic of convexity is defined by $\epsilon(E) = \sup\{\epsilon \ge 0 ; \delta(\epsilon) = 0\}$, where $\delta : [0,2] \rightarrow [0,1]$ given by

$$\delta(\epsilon) := \inf\{1 - \|\frac{x+y}{2}\| ; \|x\| = \|y\| = 1, \|x-y\| \ge \epsilon\}$$

is the modulus of convexity of E. A natural question to raise is the following :

Question 1 : Is theorem 2.2.1 still true if the underlying Banach space is strictly convex ?

• According to Alspach's counter example, one cannot delete the normal structure condition in theorem 2.3.3. However, we have the following :

Question 2 : Is theorem 2.3.3 still true (even for a single map) if we replace normal structure by $C(K)^+$ -continuity ?

5.2 Remarks on chapter 3 and related problems

• We proved that theorem 3.1.1 holds for σ -LA, seq-LA and separable left reversible semi-topological semigroups. So naturally we may ask :

Question 3 : Does theorem 3.1.1 still hold without a separability assumption ?

• Theorem 3.1.1 is a contribution to a conjecture of Lau whether left amenability of semi-topological semigroups can be characterized by the fixed point property (F^*). So far, the following partial answers have been obtained in the literature :

- Commutative semigroups possess the property (F^*) , see [6].
- A weak version of (F*) obtained by assuming K to be norm separable, is satisfied by left amenable semi-topological semigroups and discrete left subamenable semigroups, cf. [46].

- Left amenable semi-topological semigroups if K possesses normal structure, see [45].
- Left reversible semi-topological semigroups if the predual is an Membedded Banach space, see [45].

Question 4 : Is the topology τ in theorem 3.1.1 minimal ? In other words, is there a locally convex topology $\tau' \subset \tau$ with the same property as τ ?

5.3 Remarks on chapter 4 with an open question

• The approach we used for proving the existence of a left Haar measure for amenable groups does not work for general locally compact groups unfortunately; because, given a non-amenable group G, it is a wellknown fact that WAP(G) (the Banach subspace of $C_b(G)$ consisting of those functions whose left orbits are relatively compact in $C_b(G)$ in the weak topology) has a unique invariant mean m which vanishes at any function in $C_c(G)$, cf. [11]. For other details about almost periodicity see [5] and [16]. With this observation, the following question is natural:

Question 5 : Is there a fixed point proof of a left Haar measure for any locally compact groups ?

Bibliography

- D. Alspach, A fixed point free nonexpansive map, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. (1981), 423-424.
- [2] R. P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan and D.R. Sahu, Fixed Point Theory for Lipschitzian-type Mappings with Applications, Springer, (2009), 130-131.
- [3] L. P. Belluce and W. A. Kirk, Fixed-point theorems for families of contraction mappings, Pacific Journal of Mathematics Volume 18, (1966), 213-217.
- [4] L. P. Belluce and W. A. Kirk, Nonexpansive mappings and fixedpoints in Banach spaces, Illinois J. Math, Volume 11, (1967), 474-479.
- [5] J. F. Berglund, H. D. Junghenn and P. Milnes, Analysis on Semigroups, John Wiley & Sons, New York, (1989).
- [6] S. Borzdynski and A. Wisnicki, A common fixed point theorem for commuting family of weak* continuous non-expansive mappings, Studia Math. 225, (2014), 173-181.

- [7] N. Bourbaki, Elements of the story of mathematics, Springer Science and Business media, 2013.
- [8] R. E. Bruck, A common fixed point theorem for a commuting family of nonexpansive mappings, Pacific. J. Math. volume 53, (1974), 59-71.
- [9] M. S. Brodskii and D. P. Milman, On the center of a convex set, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 59, (1948), 837-840.
- [10] F. E. Browder, Nonexpansive nonlinear operators in a Banach space, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 54, (1965), 1041-1044.
- [11] R. B. Burckel, Weakly Almost Periodic Functions on Semigroups, Gordon and Breach, Science Publishers, Inc. New York, 1970.
- [12] R. E. Bruck, Jr. A common fixed point theorem for a commuting family of nonexpansive mappings, Pacific. J. Math. volume 53, (1974), 59-70.
- [13] G. Choquet, Lectures on analysis, volume 1, (1969) page 297.
- [14] M. M. Day, Amenable semigroups, Illinois J. Math. 1, (1957), 509-544.
- [15] M. M. Day, Means for the bounded functions and ergodicity of the bounded representations of semigroups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., volume 69, (1950), 276-291.

- [16] K. Deleeuw and I. Glicksberg, Applications of almost periodic compactifications, Acta Math.105, (1961), 63-97.
- [17] R. DeMarr, Common fixed points for commuting contraction mappings. Pacific J. Math. 13, (1963), 1139-1141.
- [18] B. Djafari Rouhani, Asymptotic Behaviour of Almost Nonexpansive Sequences in a Hilbert Space, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Volume 151, (1990), 226-235.
- [19] B. Djafari Rouhani, On the fixed point property for nonexpansive mappings and semigroups, Nonlinear Anal. 30, (1997), 389-396.
- [20] M. Edelstein, On non-expansive mappings of Banach spaces, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. (1964), 439-447.
- [21] M. Edelstein, The construction of an asymptotic center with a fixedpoint property, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc, volume 78, (1972), 206-208.
- [22] M. Feischl. Das Haarsche Ma β . Seminararbeit aus Analysis, 2009.
- [23] G. B. Folland, A Course in abstract harmonic analysis.
- [24] J. Górnicki, The structure of fixed-point sets of uniformly lipschitzian semigroups, Collect. Math 63, (2012), 333-344.
- [25] E. Granirer, On amenable semigroups with a finite dimensional set of invariant means II, Illinois J. Math. (1963), 49-58.
- [26] E. Granirer, On invariant mean on topological semigroups and on topological groups Pacific J. Math., 15 (1965), 107-140.

- [27] E. Granirer, Extremely amenable semigroups, Math. Scand. 17, (1965), 177-197.
- [28] E. Granirer, Extremely amenable semigroups II, Math. Scand. 20, (1967), 93-113.
- [29] E. Hewitt and Kenneth A. Ross, Abstract Harmonic Analysis volume 1.
- [30] E. Hewitt, On two problems of Urysohn, Ann. of Math, 47, (1946), 503-509.
- [31] R. D. Holmes and A. T. -M. Lau, Non-expansive actions of topological semigroups and fixed points, J. London Math. Soc. (2), 5, (1972), 330-336.
- [32] R. Hsu, Topics on weakly almost periodic functions, PhD thesis, SUNY at Buffalo, 1985.
- [33] G. Itzkowitz and T. Mitchell, Topological semigroups and fixed points II, Notices Amer. Math. Soc., volume 13, (1966), 725.
- [34] A. J. Izzo A functional Analysis proof of the existence of Haar measure on Locally compact abelian groups, Proceedings of the AMS volume 115, (1992), 581-583.
- [35] E. Kaniuth, A. T. -M. Lau and J. Pym, On character amenability of Banach algebras, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, volume 344, (2008), 942-955.

- [36] A. Kiesenhofer, Haar measure on compact groups, 2011.
- [37] W. A. Kirk, A fixed point theorem for mappings which do not increase distances, Amer. Math. Monthly, Vol. 72, (1965), 1004-1006.
- [38] W. A. Kirk and K. Goebel, Topics in metric fixed point theory, Cambridge university press (1990).
- [39] M. Klawe, Semidirect product of semigroups in relation to amenability, Cancellation properties, and Strong FØLNER conditions, Pacific journal of Mathematics, Volume 73, (1977), 91-106.
- [40] A. T. -M. Lau, Topological semigroups with invariant means in the convex hull of multiplicative means, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 148 (1970), 69-84.
- [41] A. T. -M. Lau, Functional analytic properties of topological semigroups and *n*-extreme amenability, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 152, (1970), 431-439.
- [42] A. T. -M. Lau, Invariant means on almost periodic functions and fixed point properties, Rocky Mountain J. Math, volume 3, (1973), 69-76.
- [43] A. T. -M. Lau, Invariant means and fixed point properties of semigroup of nonexpansive mappings, Taiwanese journal of Mathematics, volume 12, (2008), 1525-1542.
- [44] A. T. -M. Lau and Y. Zhang, Fixed point properties of semigroups of non-expansive mappings, J. Funct. Anal. 254, (2008), 2534-2554.

- [45] A. T. -M. Lau and Y. Zhang, Fixed point properties for semigroups of nonlinear mappings and amenability, Journal of Functional Analysis, Volume 263, (2012), 2949-2977.
- [46] A. T. -M. Lau and W. Takahashi, Invariant means and fixed point properties for non-expansive representations of topological semigroups, Topological Methods in Nolinear Analysis Journal of the Juliusz Schauder Center, Volume 5, (1995), 39-57.
- [47] T. C. Lim, Characterizations of normal structure, Proceedings of the AMS, volume 43, (1974), 313-319.
- [48] T. C. Lim, A fixed point theorem for families of nonexpansive mappings, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, volume 53, (1974), 487-493.
- [49] T. C. Lim, Asymptotic centers and nonexpansive mappings in conjugate Banach spaces, Pacific Journal of Math, volume 90, (1980), 135-143.
- [50] P. Milnes and J. S. Pym, Function spaces on semitopological semigroups, Semigroup forum volume 19, (1980), 347-354.
- [51] T. Mitchell, Fixed points and multiplicative left invariant means, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 122, (1966), 195-202.
- [52] T. Mitchell, Function algebras, means, and fixed points, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 130, (1968), 117-126.
- [53] T. Mitchell, Topological semigroups and fixed points, Illinois J. Math. 14, (1970), 630-641.

- [54] T. Mitchell, Fixed point of reversible semigroups of non-expansive mappings, Kodai Math. Seminar Rep. 22, (1970), 322-323.
- [55] W. B. Moors, A characterization of weak compactness in Banach spaces, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. Volume 55, (1997), 497-501.
- [56] A. L. T. Paterson, Amenability, American Mathematical Society Mathematical Surveys and Monographs Series, (1988).
- [57] K. Salame, Non-linear common fixed point properties of semitopological semigroups in uniformly convex spaces (Journal of Fixed Point Theory and Applications).
- [58] J. Schauder, Der Fixpunktsatz in Funktionalraumen, Studia Math., volume 2, (1930), 171-180.
- [59] W. Takahashi, Fixed point theorem for amenable semigroups of nonexpansive mappings, Kodai Math. Rep. 21, (1969), 383-386.
- [60] B. Wilson, A fixed point theorem and the existence of a Haar Measure for Hypergroups satisfying conditions related to amenability, Canad. Math. Bull. 58, (2015), 415-422.